

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

ScienceDirect

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/he





IYDRÓGE

D.P. Broom a,*, C.J. Webb b

^a Hiden Isochema Ltd, 422, Europa Boulevard, Warrington WA5 7TS, UK ^b Queensland Micro- and Nanotechnology Centre, Griffith University, Brisbane, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 8 July 2017 Received in revised form 1 October 2017 Accepted 5 October 2017 Available online 2 November 2017

Keywords: Hydrogen storage materials Hydrogen adsorption Hydrogen absorption Materials characterisation Pitfalls

ABSTRACT

Characterising the hydrogen sorption properties of materials is important for a range of applications, including solid state hydrogen storage, electrochemical and thermal energy storage using metal hydrides, and H₂ gas compression and purification. However, it can be technically demanding and subject to significant error if not performed with care. In this article, potential pitfalls in the performance of hydrogen sorption measurements are discussed. The topics covered include instrument design and calibration, sample size choice, sample and gas purity, isotherm measurement procedure and issues associated with data reduction. Approaches to validating equipment and isotherm measurements are also discussed. Different sample types are considered, including metal and complex hydrides and nanoporous adsorbents, such as porous carbons, zeolites and metal-organic frameworks (MOFs).

© 2017 Hydrogen Energy Publications LLC. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

ntroduction	321
orption measurement techniques	322
Manometric technique	322
Gravimetric technique	324
leasurement pitfalls	324
Instrument specifications	324
Manometric instruments	324
Gravimetric instruments	325
Pressure measurement	325
Temperature measurement	325
Vacuum pump selection	326
Construction materials and component compatibility	326
Instrument calibration	326

* Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: dbroom@hidenisochema.com, darrenbroom@inbox.com (D.P. Broom). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2017.10.028

^{0360-3199/© 2017} Hydrogen Energy Publications LLC. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Temperature, pressure and weight calibration	
Volume calibration for manometric instruments	
Volume calibration for gravimetric instruments	
System validation	
Sample size	
General considerations	
Figure of merit for the manometric technique	
Figure of merit for the gravimetric technique	
Degassed sample mass	
Sample and gas purity	29329
Sample impurities	
Environmental contaminants	
Gas impurities	
Isotherm measurement procedure	29331
General considerations	
The large aliquot effect	
Isotherm points and propagation of uncertainties	
Achievement of equilibrium	29332
Metal hydrides	
Complex hydrides	
Nanoporous materials	
Data reduction	29333
Real gas behaviour	
Excess and absolute adsorption	
Capacity definitions	
Discussion	
Conclusions	
Acknowledgements	
References	

Introduction

Accurately determining the hydrogen sorption properties of materials is critical to assessing their use in a range of applications, but it is also required for fundamental studies. Hydrogen absorption by elemental metals, alloys and intermetallics [1–7] has been of interest ever since the reversible absorption of hydrogen by Pd was first discovered, over 150 years ago [8]. However, more recently, the uptake and release of hydrogen by a range of other materials has been studied, including complex hydrides [9,10], such as sodium alanate [11], borohydrides [12–14] and the Li-N-H system [15,16], nonporous polymers [17–19], and nanoporous materials that include porous carbons [20–22], zeolites [23], metal-organic frameworks [24–26] and microporous organic polymers [27–29].

Much of the recent work has been driven by the intense interest in mobile hydrogen storage [30–35]. As a result, most of the above materials have been considered for this purpose [9,10,33,36–39]. However, metal hydrides have many other applications, including electrochemical [40,41] and thermal energy storage [42,43], in actuators [44] and heat switches [45,46], compressors [47,48], heat pumps and cryocoolers [49], as getters [50–53], and for isotope (H_2/D_2) separation and H_2 purification [36,54–56]. To date, the most commercially

successful of these is the use of LaNi₅-based materials in Ni-MH (Nickel-Metal Hydride) battery electrodes [57–59], but research into new materials for this application is being actively pursued [41,60]. Meanwhile, traditional nanoporous materials, such as activated carbons and zeolites, are commonly used to separate and purify H₂ using pressure swing adsorption (PSA) [61]. Polymeric membranes are also widely used in separations involving H₂, including ammonia purge gas recovery, refinery gas purification and syngas ratio adjustment [17,62]. These processes rely on H₂ separation from N₂, CH₄ and CO, respectively [62]. Such membranes are also among the many types being investigated for H₂ purification for fuel cell applications [56,63], while isotope (H₂/D₂) separation is an emerging H₂ sorption-based application for nanoporous materials [64–68].

Different applications require different hydrogen sorption properties [3,36,54,55]. For example, for H_2 storage, a significant amount of reversible uptake must occur at above ambient pressures due to delivery pressure demands. In contrast, battery electrode materials must reversibly absorb hydrogen at sub-ambient pressures because of the operating conditions of electrochemical cells [3,57]. When metal hydrides are used to compress H_2 gas to pressures of tens of MPa, materials with reversible capacities at these higher pressures are required [47]. At the other end of the scale, for getters, absorption must occur at very low, sub-mbar, pressures [50–53]. Operating temperature is also important, with some applications, such as thermal energy storage [42], requiring absorption and desorption to occur at much higher temperatures than the near-ambient conditions needed, for example, for mobile H_2 storage. Overviews of specific requirements for metal hydrides for different applications can be found in a number of articles [36,54,55], while more detail is provided in reviews on particular applications, such as H_2 compression [47] and separation [56] and thermal energy storage [42]. In each case, it is clear that the H_2 sorption properties of candidate materials must be characterised to sufficient accuracy.

The starting point, regardless of application, is often the determination of sorption isotherms, which are plots of H₂ uptake against pressure at fixed temperature. Individual isotherms provide basic capacity information; for example, for H₂ storage, an isotherm measured at the operating temperature of the store gives both the maximum capacity of a material and its reversible capacity between a minimum and maximum operating pressure. However, measurement of isotherms at a series of temperatures also enables determination of the thermodynamics of the interaction of H₂ with the material using the van't Hoff relation [36,55,57]. This allows calculation of the changes in enthalpy and entropy for hydride formation or decomposition, for metal hydrides, or the isosteric enthalpy and entropy of H₂ adsorption for nanoporous materials [69]. Such thermodynamic information is of interest for both fundamental reasons and for practical applications. In addition, isotherm shape at different temperatures can also be important. For example, for H₂ compression, sloping plateaus in metal hydride pressurecomposition isotherms can lead to lower compression ratios, for a given pair of upper and lower operating temperatures [47].

Hydrogen sorption measurements can, however, be technically demanding and subject to a number of sources of experimental error [35,70–87]. This has been demonstrated by a number of high profile controversies in hydrogen storage material research [88], the most prominent of which was over the storage properties of carbon nanostructures. In this case, in the late 1990s, high storage capacities were reported by a number of authors [89–92] but the results were later shown to be irreproducible, as summarised recently by Broom and Hirscher [88]. Further problems, however, have occurred with data reported for boron nitride nanotubes, conducting polymers, metal-organic frameworks (MOFs) and various materials purported to store large amounts of hydrogen via spillover [88]. The latest controversy involves hydrogen storage in graphene-based materials [93].

The problems described above led to recent interlaboratory exercises, which found a disturbing disparity between the results reported by the participants [94,95]. Zlotea et al. [94] reported the H₂ adsorption properties of a commercial porous carbon at 77 K and ambient temperature, at pressures up to 10 MPa and 20 MPa, respectively, while Moretto et al. [95] reported the hydrogen absorption and desorption properties of a MgH₂-based material at temperatures of 553 K and 593 K. Results from these studies are shown in Figs. 1 and 2, in which the disparity, particularly at higher pressures, is clearly evident. Possible reasons for this are discussed in more detail later, but the variation in data found for different types of



Fig. 1 – Hydrogen adsorption data for the porous carbon Takeda CMS 4A, measured at (a) ambient temperature and (b) 77 K in different European laboratories [94]. (Reprinted from International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 34(7), C. Zlotea et al., A Round Robin characterisation of the hydrogen sorption properties of a carbon based material, 3044–3057, Copyright (2009), with permission from Elsevier).

material illustrates the susceptibility of hydrogen sorption measurements to error, and suggests this is a more general problem.

This article therefore discusses the potential pitfalls encountered when characterising the hydrogen sorption properties of materials. We begin by introducing the most common measurement methods, before covering pitfalls in the main section and then concluding with a discussion.

Sorption measurement techniques

The hydrogen sorption properties of materials are typically determined using either manometric or gravimetric techniques. Each approach allows quantification of hydrogen uptake as a function of both temperature and pressure.

Manometric technique

In the manometric case, also known as the volumetric or Sieverts technique, measurement of $H_2\ pressure$ and





Fig. 2 — Hydrogen absorption data for a doped MgH₂ sample measured at (a) 553 K and (b) 593 K in different laboratories [95]. (Reprinted from International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 38(16), P. Moretto et al., A Round Robin Test exercise on hydrogen absorption/desorption properties of a magnesium hydride based material, 6704—6717, Copyright (2013), with permission from Elsevier).

temperature, combined with an equation of state for H₂ and the volume of the apparatus, is used to determine the quantity sorbed (absorbed or adsorbed) by a material [35,79-81,85,96-98]. Fig. 3(a) shows a simplified manometric apparatus. The instrument consists of two fixed volumes coupled by a valve - a reference or dosing volume and a sample cell. A pressure transducer is mounted on the reference volume and temperature sensors (not shown) measure the temperatures of both volumes. More sensors are required when different parts of the apparatus are subject to different temperatures, and different transducers can be used to cover different pressure ranges. Initially, a specific amount of material is loaded into the sample cell and all volumes are evacuated. Some sample preparation is often required, for example, heating under vacuum to remove moisture, oxygen or other contaminants, such as solvents remaining from the synthesis process.

An isotherm measurement usually begins with evacuation of the sample cell at the required temperature. This provides a



Fig. 3 – Schematic diagrams of (a) a simplified manometric apparatus [79] and (b) gravimetric apparatus employing a symmetric microbalance with both the sample (S) and the tare weight (T) suspended in the gas [87]. (Reprinted from Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 446–447, T. P. Blach, E. M. Gray, Sieverts apparatus and methodology for accurate determination of hydrogen uptake by light-atom hosts, 692–697, Copyright (2007), and International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 39(13), C. J. Webb, E. M. Gray, Analysis of uncertainties in gas uptake measurements using the gravimetric method, 7158–7164, Copyright (2014), with permission from Elsevier).

reference point for the uptake calculation. A known amount of gas, calculated using the real gas law, is then prepared in the reference volume. As the process of filling this volume involves some gas expansion, adiabatic effects require thermal equilibration to be achieved before the pressure and temperature measurements can yield an accurate value for the gas quantity. After thermal equilibration, the separating valve, labelled 'S' in Fig. 3(a), is opened and gas expands into the sample cell. Adiabatic gas expansion and the exothermic or endothermic reaction of H_2 with the material lead to changes in temperature, while H_2 sorption alters the pressure. Therefore, thermal and pressure equilibrium must again be established before a reading is taken. The equilibrium pressure and temperature is then used to determine the amount of gas in

both volumes. Since the system is closed, any difference in the amount of gas can be attributed to H_2 uptake by the sample, providing the instrument is free of leaks. In this sense, manometric sorption measurements are indirect as the uptake is only inferred from pressure changes. They also rely on the assumption that no other effects contribute to the pressure difference.

The above describes the first step in an isotherm measurement, which yields a single value of H_2 uptake at a particular equilibrium pressure. To continue, the sample cell is isolated, and the reference volume prepared with a new aliquot of gas. Once the valve is again opened and a stable measurement taken, the additional increment in the uptake can be determined. The uptake following this step is then the sum of these two values. These steps continue until the maximum measurement pressure is reached. The incremental uptake values can then be summed in order to calculate the uptake at each equilibrium pressure. Detailed descriptions of this technique were provided by Gray [81] and Broom [35].

Gravimetric technique

In comparison, the gravimetric technique typically uses a microbalance to directly measure the change in sample weight due to H_2 sorption [35,80,81,87,99,100]. The balance may be single or doubled-sided [81]. In the latter case, a tare weight is normally applied to the opposing side (Fig. 3(b)). The sample is placed in a holder attached to one side of the balance and any sample preparation procedures performed. A measurement begins with the sample under vacuum at the desired temperature. A pressure of H₂ is introduced to the microbalance chamber; any interaction between H₂ and the material changes the measured weight. Once the balance signal has stabilised, a weight reading is taken, which provides the first isotherm point. To measure the next point, the H₂ pressure in the chamber is increased and another weight reading taken. This continues until a full isotherm has been determined. Gravimetric measurements are direct, as the increase in sample weight due to hydrogen uptake is measured directly by the balance; however, the weight readings must be corrected for the buoyancy of both the sample and any other components attached to the balance [35,81,87].

Although it requires more expensive instrumentation. the gravimetric technique has the advantage that the internal volume of the instrument is not used to calculate the uptake. At any pressure, the amount of H₂ sorbed by the sample is instead given by the (corrected) balance reading, referenced to the sample mass under vacuum. Another advantage is therefore that a sorption measurement at a specific pressure is independent of any previous uptake measurements, unlike the manometric case. This significantly reduces the uncertainty in the final uptake value at the highest equilibrium pressure [87]. A further benefit, in contrast to manometric measurement, is that isobars can readily be determined by changing the sample temperature under constant pressure conditions [99]. Further details regarding the gravimetric technique were provided by Gray [81] and Broom [35].

Measurement pitfalls

In principle, both techniques are straightforward as they simply involve measuring pressure, temperature and sample weight; combined with knowledge of the system volume, in the manometric case. Yet this apparent simplicity is deceptive. Small errors in some parameters can lead to large errors in the calculated uptake, the magnitude of which increases significantly under certain conditions in ways that may not be immediately obvious. For example, manometric measurement, at near ambient temperatures and pressures, of hydrogen absorption by LaNi₅, a hydriding intermetallic with a high bulk density, is relatively immune to errors that, in contrast, can greatly affect high pressure measurements of H₂ adsorption by a (low density) nanoporous material at 77 K.

Errors affecting hydrogen uptake measurements have been widely discussed for years [70,71,73,75-78,101-110]. However, the main sources were categorised in 2007 by Broom [80], in the context of the accuracy of hydrogen storage material characterisation. Some of these were also under more rigorous analysis around the same time [79]. Since then, a United States (US) Department of Energy (DOE) project has defined best practices in the characterisation of the hydrogen storage properties of materials [111] and, in 2011, a book covering the main experimental considerations in hydrogen sorption measurement was published [35]. Further work has continued on various aspects of measurement accuracy [83-87] but an explanation of the most significant practical problems encountered when performing hydrogen sorption measurements, regardless of the intended application or material, is missing from the literature. This article aims to fill this gap. In this section, we therefore discuss the main pitfalls.

Instrument specifications

For optimal results, instruments are best designed with the nature of the sample and application in mind. Heterogeneous materials, for example, may require a large sample cell to contain sufficient sample to average over the inhomogeneities. In contrast, novel nanoscale compounds may only be available in small quantities. Also, as noted in the Introduction, different applications require different pressure regimes, together with different experimental temperatures. Tailoring instruments to specific samples or applications, however, is often not feasible, as they are typically purchased from a limited set of configurations or designed intentionally for flexibility. The limitations of each instrument must therefore be accommodated during measurements. If a fixed configuration is used - a commercially supplied apparatus, for example - it is important to consider whether it can make accurate measurements on a material in the quantities available.

Manometric instruments

Manometric measurements rely on differences in the amount of gas contributing to the pressure before and after the sample is exposed to H_2 ; so a small H_2 uptake results in a significant relative uncertainty. The more gas involved in the measurement – for the same sample size and uptake – the greater that uncertainty. Hence, larger reference and sample cell volumes are more likely to lead to inaccurate calculations [84]. In addition, each measurement step involves gas expansion from the reference volume into the combined reference and sample cell volume so the ratio of these volumes is also important. When the sample cell and dosing volume temperatures are similar, as is typically the case for near ambient temperature measurements, the best results are obtained with approximately equal volumes [79,85].¹ However, at lower sample temperatures -77 K, for example - it is better for the volume ratio to more closely match the ratio of the temperatures of the reference volume and sample cell [114], resulting in a larger reference volume. Also, to calculate uptake, the quantities of gas in the individual volumes are determined from pressure and temperature. Accurate sorption measurements thus require high accuracy transducers and sensors that are carefully calibrated, together with knowledge of the internal volumes (see Section Instrument calibration).

The critical specifications of a manometric instrument are therefore the absolute values of the reference and sample cell volumes, the ratio of these volumes, and the accuracy of the pressure and temperature measurement and volume calibrations. In addition, any manometric system must also be leak tight.

Gravimetric instruments

In contrast, the internal volume of a gravimetric instrument does not need to be known because the sorbed weight is measured directly. However, each microbalance has a resolution, specifying the minimum measurable weight change and hence the minimum measurable H₂ uptake. Resolution is practically limited by long term stability, which depends critically on the thermal and mechanical stability of the microbalance enclosure [35]. High sensitivity balances can have a quoted resolution of 0.1 μ g, but a long term stability of this level is difficult to achieve. Also, higher resolution instruments are more delicate. This can limit maximum capacity, which in turn limits the amount of sample that can be used. For a single-sided balance, this is the maximum weight that can be applied and measured, but for double-sided balances the specifications may quote maximum applied weights for both the tare and sample sides, as well as a maximum differential weight, or weighing range.

The critical specifications of a gravimetric instrument are therefore the resolution and long term stability of the microbalance, its maximum weighing capacity and, for doublesided balances, the maximum weights that can be applied to either side. However, the accuracy of the pressure transducers can limit the range of pressures over which accurate sorption isotherms can be determined.

Pressure measurement

Pressure measurement is required for the gravimetric method in order to define the measurement conditions and to calculate buoyancy forces. However, for manometric measurements it is used directly to calculate H_2 uptake. It is therefore more significant to the uncertainty in calculated uptake [85], and hence its resolution – the minimum uptake that can be reliably measured at any step.

Pressure transducers based on crystal oscillator sensors typically have accuracies expressed as a percentage of full scale range (FSR). The product of this quoted percentage accuracy and the FSR gives the absolute accuracy, and this is constant for all measurements. The relative accuracy, however, is greatest at the maximum pressure and poorer at lower pressures. For example, for a 10 MPa transducer with an accuracy of 0.02% FSR, the absolute accuracy is 2 kPa but the relative value at 0.1 MPa is 2%. A 200 MPa transducer with an accuracy of 0.02% FSR, meanwhile, has an absolute accuracy of 40 kPa. The relative uncertainty at 0.1 MPa is therefore 40%, prohibiting accurate manometric sorption measurements at this pressure.

Capacitance manometers, on the other hand, often have an accuracy quoted as a percentage of reading. Typical percentage accuracies for these sensors are poorer – for example, 1% of reading [111] – but they offer the potential advantage of higher absolute accuracies at lower measurement pressures. However, there is a trade-off because of their lower accuracy at higher pressures.

Nevertheless, attempting to measure H₂ uptake at low pressures compared to the range of the transducer is a significant pitfall. Selecting the lowest range transducer for a chosen application provides the highest H₂ sorption measurement accuracy, bearing in mind that systems can be fitted with transducers covering different ranges [97]. Furthermore, at very low pressures, for example <100 Pa, thermal transpiration corrections are necessary if a temperature difference exists between the transducer and the sample cell [35,80,103,113,115]. Rouquerol et al. [116] noted, with regard to adsorption measurements at 77 K, that an error of nearly 100% in the pressure reading is possible if thermal transpiration is ignored.

Temperature measurement

Temperature sensors are readily available for a wide range of measurement conditions [117]. Thermocouples with typical absolute accuracies of ± 1 K and platinum resistance thermometers (PRTs) with typical accuracies of ± 0.1 K, for example, can be obtained at reasonable cost, with different sensors appropriate to different ranges. At 300 K, the accuracy of a measurement using a PRT is approximately $\pm 0.03\%$, but this percentage increases for lower temperatures; for example, at 77 K, a typical measurement temperature for nanoporous adsorbents, it becomes $\pm 0.13\%$ – assuming the absolute accuracy in this range is independent of temperature. This leads to a greater contribution to H₂ sorption measurement uncertainty at lower temperatures.

When measuring pressure, it is often unnecessary to use more than one transducer because pressure will equalise rapidly following any change – assuming there are no apertures small enough to significantly limit gas flow. In contrast, the temperature of different parts of the apparatus may differ significantly and readings can be slow to stabilise [84], so multiple sensors are often required. For manometric measurements, in particular, accurate knowledge of gas

 $^{^1}$ This was also shown to be the case for N_2 sorption by polymers by Koros and Paul [112], and was recommended by Ross and Olivier [113] in their earlier discussion of gas adsorption measurement.

temperature in each volume is crucial to accurately calculate gas quantities. A pitfall in the design of a manometric instrument is therefore the inability to accurately determine all relevant gas temperatures throughout the system. This may be due to temperature fluctuations, an insufficient number of sensors in the gas phase, or their location at a distance from the majority of the gas volume; for example, on the outside of pressure vessels or tubing. Minimising the amount of unthermostatted volume in any manometric system is also beneficial, as any ambient temperature fluctuations will contribute to measurement uncertainty, regardless of the accuracy of temperature measurement or control in other parts of the apparatus. Typical materials used for valves and tubing (stainless steels) have poor thermal conductivity compared to some other metals so this may exacerbate the problem.

Vacuum pump selection

The achievable base pressure in a sorption system is limited by the type of vacuum pump. Different vacuum levels can be classified as low vacuum (10^5 to 10^2 Pa), medium vacuum (10^2 to 10^{-1} Pa), high vacuum (10^{-1} to 10^{-6} Pa), and ultra-high vacuum $(10^{-6} \text{ to } 10^{-10} \text{ Pa})$ [118], although the definitions can vary [119]. Different base pressures are required for different material types and for measurements made under differing conditions. Important considerations include the lowest measurement pressure needed for the material being studied, or its intended application, and the required degassing or activation conditions. Studies on materials that absorb or adsorb H₂ at low pressures require a low enough base pressure for an accurate sorption measurement to be made, without the interference of impurities, while nanoporous materials often need high vacuum conditions to initially remove pre-adsorbed contaminants from micropores [120]. Different types of pump provide different base pressures, but the vacuum achieved at the sample position also depends on the tortuosity of the pumping path and the quality of the seals in the system [35]. Furthermore, removing adsorbed species, such as water, from the internal surfaces of an instrument may require heating to reach the lowest pressures (see, for example, discussion of the baking of vacuum systems in O'Hanlon [119]). This is particularly important when making measurements at low pressures.

In many cases, a high vacuum pump system is required. Such systems include turbomolecular and diffusion pumps, while medium vacuum conditions can be achieved using rotary vane, scroll or diaphragm pumps, which are also effective as backing or roughing pumps [119]. Diffusion and rotary vane pumps, however, use oil, which can result in backstreaming of hydrocarbon vapours and hence contamination of the sorption system. Such contaminants can adsorb to samples, causing measurement errors, or they may react with the surface [121,122], altering the hydrogen sorption behaviour of the material. Using a dry pump system – for example, a turbomolecular pump backed by a diaphragm pump – is therefore advantageous.

If above-ambient pressure H_2 sorption measurements are a priority and low or medium vacuum conditions allow activation of the sample, then a rotary, scroll or diaphragm pump may suffice. When using a rotary vane pump, however, a foreline trap is generally necessary to minimise contamination.

Construction materials and component compatibility

Choice of construction material for a system depends to a certain extent on the required measurement conditions [123]. At high pressures and temperatures, for example, some materials are susceptible to hydrogen permeation [124,125], which can lead to measurement error. Another consideration is hydrogen embrittlement and attack [126-129]. Hydrogen embrittlement tends to occur at near ambient temperatures [127], whereas hydrogen attack occurs at elevated temperatures [126,128]. With regard to hydrogen embrittlement, information on the suitability of materials for use with high pressure H_2 is available in the literature [130]. However, offthe-shelf components suitable for high pressure H₂ operation are usually constructed from 316 L stainless steel, which offers good performance over a range of pressures and temperatures, but with upper temperature limitations. Hydrogen permeation resistant surface coatings can be used for higher temperature operation (see, for example, the discussion in Ward et al. [43]).

With regard to component selection, manometric instruments must be leak free, which can be a particular problem for H₂. Leakage leads to measurement errors in the manometric case, as noted by a number of authors [73,75,77,78], but it is also a safety issue. Thorough leak testing of equipment is therefore important. In addition, for both techniques, contaminant ingress through outboard leaks is possible, particularly under high vacuum conditions. High performance components are thus required, preferably with all-metal seals [35], such as VCR, or metal cone-to-cone seals such as Sitec, Nova Swiss and Maximator high pressure components, as they are compatible with both high vacuum and high pressure operation; while fittings featuring elastomer seals can be susceptible to leaks at higher pressures. For high vacuum operation, if high pressures are not required, standard Ultra-High Vacuum (UHV) components, such as Conflat (CF) flanges, are another option. It is also necessary for measurement devices, such as temperature sensors and pressure transducers, to be suitable for use with H₂. This can involve the coating of temperature sensor sheaths and transducer membranes.

Instrument calibration

Calibrating a measuring device involves ensuring the measured value equals the true value within the expected uncertainty; that is, ensuring the measurement is accurate. This typically requires comparison of the output to a sufficiently accurate standard device or a standard process or system. In this section, we consider calibration of temperature, pressure and weight measurement, accurate determination of volume in both manometric and gravimetric systems, and validation of the operation of both instrument types.

Temperature, pressure and weight calibration

Temperature calibration can be performed either by comparison to a calibrated temperature sensor or by immersing a sensor in fluids for which the temperature is well known at fixed points, such as the triple, boiling or freezing points of N₂, water, metals and different oils [117,131]. A mathematical function, typically a polynomial, is then used to determine the temperature from the actual measurement (voltage, resistance or uncalibrated temperature) [117]. Pressure transducers can likewise be calibrated against a previously calibrated transducer or by using a dead-weight tester, which determines pressure from weights acting on a piston [132]. For gravimetric systems, the balance itself can be calibrated using standard weights [100]. The output of measurement devices can drift with time, so a significant pitfall is failure to maintain calibration of all devices in a sorption instrument.

Volume calibration for manometric instruments

The internal volumes of a manometric instrument must be accurately determined using an appropriate method. Typically, gas is expanded from a calibrated volume into an unknown volume [35,97], or it is expanded from one unknown volume to another both with and without a known displacement volume present [133]; the resultant set of simultaneous equations is then solved. The same technique can be implemented using a piston of known displacement [81]. Alternatively, an unknown volume can be filled with a fluid of known density at a specific temperature, typically water at room temperature, and the amount of fluid weighed or measured by a calibrated volume [134]. Each approach results in uncertainties, the contribution of which to the overall H₂ uptake uncertainty at elevated pressures can be significant [86].

Most manometric systems are not as straightforward as shown in Fig. 3(a), so they contain additional volumes in the gas handling system, which must be calibrated if they are involved in a measurement. The internal volume of valves can also differ depending on whether the valve is open or closed, so these differences must be accounted for, if they are significant compared to the total volume of the system. In such cases, careful calibration of all the measurement volumes is required.

Samples are also often held at a different temperature to other parts of the apparatus. To accurately calculate gas quantities, volume calibrations must therefore account for the differing temperatures. If individual volumes are isothermal, only knowledge of the physical volumes together with the temperatures is required. However, when different parts of one volume are at different temperatures, with a separating temperature gradient, a different calibration method is necessary. Two common techniques are the equivalent-volume model [81], in which the equivalent volume at ambient temperature is determined for a range of temperatures and pressures, and the divided-volume model [35,81], in which the temperature gradient is modelled as two discrete temperature volumes. Both approaches can correctly account for differences in real gas behaviour, as a function of temperature and pressure, as explained by Gray [81]. However, they also rely on maintaining the same conditions during the experiment as during calibration. Failing to do this invalidates the uptake calculation, as incorrect volumes are used. This is particularly important when a liquid bath, often N₂, is used for temperature control. Varying liquid levels due to evaporation or varying temperature gradients, due to ice accretion, for example, can make it difficult to operate under the same conditions, leading to errors. This is a general problem that affects all gas adsorption measurements made at 77 K using a liquid N_2 bath [135].

Volume calibration for gravimetric instruments

In a gravimetric system, the volume occupied by the gas does not need to be known; however, the volumes displaced by the components connected to the balance are required to calculate the buoyancy forces [35,81]. For a single-sided, isothermal system, the total volume of all items attached to the balance arm is required, including hangdown wires or rods and the bucket or sample holder. The part of the balance arm immersed in the gas may also contribute to the buoyancy depending on its position in relation to the pivot point. If any parts of the apparatus are at different temperatures, however, the individual volumes of all items at each temperature must be known. For a double-sided balance, the tare side buoyancy contributions must be included [35,81], although if both sides of the balance are at the same temperature, in principle, only the volume difference between the sides is required.

System validation

The accuracy of volume calibration in a manometric system, combined with calibration of the measurement devices, can be tested by measuring empty sample cell isotherms and H_2 sorption isotherms for a well-understood material [35,97,98]. Empty sample cell isotherms should show no sorption for all pressures, within the expected uncertainty based on the instrument specifications; while H₂ sorption isotherms measured for a known sample should show the expected behaviour. Using a sample exhibiting strong temperature and pressure dependence is advantageous. Any deviations can indicate poor volume calibration but the shape of the resultant isotherms may also indicate the nature of the errors [86]. A pitfall, in this case, is failure to check the accuracy of volume calibration using the above tests, prior to performing H_2 sorption measurements on the material under investigation. Unfortunately, no recognised standard materials for H₂ sorption currently exist; unlike those, for example, that are available for X-ray and neutron crystallography, such as silicon powder (e.g. NIST Standard Reference Material, SRM-640) and LaB₆ (e.g. NIST SRM 660).²

For gravimetric systems, buoyancy volume accuracy and measurement device calibration can also be checked by measuring an isotherm without a sample. Using denser gases, such as N_2 or Ar, amplifies the buoyancy effects because the force on any given component is increased by the larger molar mass of these species. The buoyancy correction procedure for the sample itself can be tested using a non-interacting sample of known volume, and measuring its apparent weight change as a function of pressure. Back calculation of the sample volume from the microbalance signal should yield a result in accordance with the known value. Finally, H₂ sorption measurements made on well-understood materials, as described above, provides a method to check the calibration of the

² Information regarding the full range of standard reference materials (SRMs) available from NIST can be found on their website (https://www.nist.gov/srm, accessed June 2017).

microbalance, pressure transducers and temperature sensors, as well as the data processing methods.

For both techniques, obtaining agreement between results from known materials, while not guaranteeing all aspects of the instrument and technique are without error, remains the sole method by which the full range of measurement errors can be determined. It is therefore essential in any instrument calibration procedure. It is important to note that the known material should have similar characteristics, such as density, porosity and uptake, to the studied material. For example, an ambient temperature measurement on a high density intermetallic such as LaNi₅ is a poor standard for validation of an instrument to be used for nanoporous materials at 77 K, as it does not adequately test the conditions to which (low density) nanoporous samples are sensitive [79,81].

Sample size

The quantity of material used to measure H_2 sorption may be limited practically by the available amount, the sample holder size or the microbalance capacity. Sample holder size can be a particular limitation for low density materials. However, regardless of practical restrictions, the amount of sample used can significantly affect the accuracy of a result, so poor sample size choice is a pitfall for all measurements.

General considerations

For a particular material in a given instrument, sample size can influence measurements in two ways. Firstly, it affects uptake measurement resolution, in terms of a specific quantity such as wt%, since the larger the sample, the higher the absolute molar H₂ uptake at the same pressure and temperature. For manometric measurements, for example, smaller samples increase the uncertainty in the calculated wt% uptake for a system of a given volume [84,85,97]. Secondly, any error in sample volume, due to inaccurate density determination, for example, increases the likelihood of errors in the sorption measurements with increasing sample size. A balance must be found between these competing effects. Unfortunately, measuring or determining the volume of a material can be deceptively complex [136]. For gas adsorption measurements on nanoporous materials, in general, this problem has led to recent work on alternative definitions of adsorption that do not require accurate knowledge of the sample volume (see Section Excess and absolute adsorption) [137-139].

In the manometric technique, the void volume – the volume in the sample cell accessible to H_2 – must be known in order to calculate H_2 uptake, using the conventional definitions. This can be experimentally determined by measuring the cell volume with the sample present using a gas, typically helium, that is not expected to interact with the sample; or by subtracting a calculated sample volume from the empty cell volume [35,81,85]. Difficulties arise when using helium because it may not access the same volume as H_2 , particularly for microporous materials, and it may also adsorb [140–142]. At any given pressure, the amount of adsorption will increase with decreasing temperature. Low temperature void volume determination should therefore be avoided. As a result of these effects, some authors have advocated using elevated

temperatures for microporous materials [140,142]; but, regardless, helium volume calibration for these materials should not be performed at 77 K, as adsorption will affect the result, leading to measurement errors.

Gravimetric measurements also require sample volume as it is used to correct for buoyancy. Pycnometry can be used to measure volume in situ using helium or another noninteracting gas but this is also affected by the problems noted above. If directly determining the sample volume is difficult or inappropriate, an estimated material density can be used to calculate its volume from the measured weight [35].

Ideally, to calculate sample volume, the appropriate density to use is the average mass to volume ratio inside the surface defined by the volume inaccessible to H_2 in the absence of sorption. This may differ from the skeletal or theoretical crystal density of the unloaded sample and, in practice, can be quite difficult to define. The accessible volume of a microporous material, for example, depends on both pore geometry and the size of the probe [143,144]. Using an inaccurate sample density will obviously introduce an error in the calculated volume occupied by the sample. Analysis of such errors has shown that, for typical sample sizes and volumes in a manometric system, density errors of 25% can lead to uptake measurement errors greater than 100% over typical measurement pressure ranges [79]. This increases further with increasing pressure - see Fig. 4. The sample volume problem [81] is most acute for low density materials with highly porous or complex structures, which are often of interest in H₂ sorption studies.

Sample volume or density may also change during a measurement [145]. Alloys and intermetallics typically undergo crystal expansion during hydrogen absorption - LaNi₅, for example, expands by approximately 23% [40,146].



Fig. 4 – Effect of a $\pm 25\%$ change in sample density on the apparent hydrogen uptake of C₂₄K at room temperature, measured in a system of insufficient volume relative to the volume of sample [79]. H/X is the hydrogen-to-host atomic ratio. (Reprinted from Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 446–447, T. P. Blach, E. M. Gray, Sieverts apparatus and methodology for accurate determination of hydrogen uptake by light-atom hosts, 692–697, Copyright (2007), with permission from Elsevier).

Similarly, Mg expands by approximately 30% during the transition from Mg to MgH_2 [39]. Complex hydrides, including borohydrides and alanates, also change density as the reaction proceeds, since a new compound is formed upon hydrogen absorption. Materials with layered structures, such as clays [147], may swell due to molecular H_2 penetrating layers. Structural phase transitions are also possible during adsorption by MOFs [148–150]. If it is known, the volume or density change as a function of pressure can be used to correct the calculated uptake. Otherwise, mitigation of the resulting effects is the only option.

Practically, two approaches can be used to help validate results when sample size is a concern. Firstly, if sample density is used to calculate uptake, the calculation can be repeated using likely lower and upper bound density values [98]. The variation in uptake for the extremes of density indicates the significance of any such errors, as shown, for example, in Fig. 4. Secondly, measurements can be made using different sample sizes. Any sample size dependence suggests problems with this issue as normalised hydrogen storage capacities (see Section Capacity definitions) are independent of the amount of sample used.

Figure of merit for the manometric technique

For manometric measurements, Blach and Gray [79] derived a figure of merit, η , to gauge the suitability of a system for a particular sample size. The sensitivity of a manometric instrument to changes in hydrogen content due to pressure changes during any sorption step is the slope of the isochore, s_k , which depends on sample size and the reference and sample cell volumes. To obtain η , s_k is divided by the pressure transducer resolution, δp . Blach and Gray [79] suggest that a minimum value of approximately 100 is required to obtain reliable results. Since η is proportional to sample size, it can be increased by using more sample. However, this increases the effects of uncertainty in the sample volume, as discussed above.

Figure of merit for the gravimetric technique

For accurate gravimetric results, the sample weight change as a result of sorption must be greater than the resolution of the microbalance and this will depend on sample size. We can define a simple expression, analogous to the Blach and Gray [79] figure of merit, for a gravimetric measurement, $\eta_a = M_H n_x / \delta m$, where M_H is the molar mass of hydrogen, n_x is the amount of sample in moles, as determined under vacuum at the start of the experiment, and δm is the microbalance resolution. The product $M_H n_x$ indicates the sensitivity to changes in the hydrogen content as measured by changes in the sample weight. Since η_a is effectively the ratio of sample weight to balance resolution, it can be increased by using more sample. However, larger samples lead to greater buoyancy effects so any uncertainty in sample volume contributes greater uncertainty to the calculated uptake. A compromise must again be found.

Degassed sample mass

Determining the degassed sample mass is a related issue, as any error in this will directly affect the calculated specific uptake for both techniques [35]. Although less problematic for hydrides, for nanoporous materials that lose a significant amount of weight during degassing due to removal of preadsorbed water or solvent, for example, the effects can be significant.

In the gravimetric case, weight is measured in situ so the degassed sample mass can, in principle, be determined accurately; however, the exact value must still be chosen [35]. For example, the sample mass at the end of the degassing process, at the degassing temperature, or the mass after the sample has reached the experimental temperature can be used. These should, in principle, be equal but some variation is often observed in practice.

In the manometric case, however, sample weight cannot be measured in situ. Therefore, appropriate steps must be taken, for example, by weighing the degassed sample in a glovebox or weighing the empty sealed sample cell under vacuum and the sealed cell containing the degassed sample under vacuum and subtracting one from the other. Sample cells can also be back-filled with an inert gas such as helium but, in this case, the empty cell must be filled with the same gas when weighed. Any of these methods could introduce errors. Regardless, using an erroneous sample mass is a measurement pitfall that can result in significant errors in the calculated H_2 uptake.

Sample and gas purity

Contamination of both the sample and the gas used for measurements must be carefully considered. Small quantities of an additive or impurity, intentional or otherwise, can have a significant impact on the interaction of H_2 with a material. Sample contamination can take a number of forms, each of which can create pitfalls when characterising the H_2 sorption behaviour of the material the sample is purported to represent. The considerations, in each case, depend on material type. Purity issues associated with sample preparation include contamination of the original constituents and contamination introduced during synthesis or during post-synthesis purification or treatment. Environmental contaminants can also be introduced by subsequently exposing synthesised samples to air. In this section, each of these issues is discussed, followed by consideration of gas purity.

Sample impurities

When samples are synthesised using commercial constituents, each component will have a nominal purity. Trace elements of similar atomic number that occur naturally together are often present, depending on the separation techniques or processing methods used. In many cases, the impurity type and approximate percentages can be obtained from the supplier [151]. However, other impurities, especially oxides and hydroxides for metals and metallic compounds, can be present [122,151], and these may also develop progressively on the surface of a material during storage and handling. Contamination of solid samples from container materials is likely to be less of a problem than for liquids [152,153]; however, it is worth noting that oxygen diffusion, for example, is possible through the walls of plastic containers - even those constructed from materials known to exhibit good barrier properties [154,155].

The synthesis process can also introduce impurities. For example, mechanical milling or ball-milling can result in contamination from the milling container and balls [156–160]. This is particularly relevant for hard materials, such as elemental hydrides, intermetallics and alloys, as well as other materials such as carbides [156,159,160]. When materials such as porous polymers [27,28,161-163] and borohydrides [164,165] are synthesised using wet chemistry methods, subsequent removal of solvent from the surface or pores is crucial. This must be performed thoroughly because residual solvent will likely interfere with subsequent H₂ sorption measurements. For MOFs, this is particularly important, and the process is known as activation [166,167]. Incomplete removal of solvent, or the activation method, has received considerable attention recently due to the important effect it can have on the properties of materials [166,168-170]. For example, activation using supercritical CO₂ has been found to significantly enhance the adsorption properties of some MOFs [167,169]. Separating the effects of this activation step from the degassing process prior to performing a H₂ sorption measurement is difficult but it is nevertheless important to ensure that MOFs are activated and degassed thoroughly. Ignoring this is a significant pitfall when characterising the H₂ adsorption properties of MOFs and related materials.

Successful activation and the purity of MOF samples can be assessed, to a certain extent, from pore structure and surface area analysis using, for example, N₂ or Ar adsorption at 77 K and 87 K, respectively [120]. Significant variation in the N₂ BET areas of different samples of the same MOF have been observed. De Lange et al. [114], for example, collated literature values for MIL-101(Cr). BET areas varied from approximately 1300 m² g⁻¹ to 4200 m² g⁻¹, while pore volumes ranged from 1.1 cm³ g⁻¹ to 2.5 cm³ g⁻¹. Large variations in reported H₂ uptakes for MOF-5, which correlate with BET area, were noted by Kaye et al. [171]. Differences for this material were attributed by Hafizovic et al. [172] to either the presence of Zn oxides in the pores or framework interpenetration, but related problems are likely for other MOFs.

Some materials must be purified following synthesis. A prominent example in hydrogen storage studies is purification or post-synthesis treatment of carbon nanotubes [173]. In one case, nanotube samples were sonicated using a Ti alloy horn, resulting in deposition of the alloy onto the material. It was later shown that absorption of hydrogen by the contaminant significantly affected the results [174,175].

For metal hydrides, sample purity problems can include compositional gradients in multicomponent alloys and the presence of minority phases in intermetallics [151]; though the presence of impurity elements in binary hydrides, which can result in formation of dilute substitutional alloys, may also alter their hydrogen sorption properties [7]. Compositional inhomogeneity in alloys and intermetallics can lead to changes in the shape of hydrogen sorption isotherms [151,176]. This can occur even in the absence of contaminants. Annealing alloys and intermetallics, using prolonged heat treatment in an inert atmosphere, can improve their compositional and structural homogeneity and reduce crystal imperfections, such as vacancies, dislocations and grain boundaries [60,151,177,178]. Crystalline minority phases present in large proportions can be detected using X-ray powder diffraction [151,179–181], for example, providing the amount is above the lower detection limit of this technique, which varies from material to material; but this technique alone should not be relied upon, due to the presence of phases that may go undetected. Large proportions of grain boundaries in ball-milled samples can also change the sorption properties of some hydrides [182] so this is another potential source of differences between samples. Thorough characterisation of the samples under study is therefore essential and ignoring potential effects of sample purity on any given result is another pitfall. Unfortunately, characterisation standards are not currently available for nanomaterials [183]. Developing such standards would be invaluable for addressing some of the points discussed above.

Environmental contaminants

Exposure to air can contaminate many materials. Light metals, for example, can oxidise rapidly, and relatively thick oxide layers can form on the surface of hydriding alloys after long term exposure [184–188]. Humidity is a problem for materials, such as hydrides, that may react with water. Nanocomposites including finely dispersed metals may be particularly susceptible to such contamination due to their large surface area to volume ratios. Most porous materials will also adsorb species from the atmosphere although the extent will depend partly on material type. For example, hydrophilic (low silica) zeolites can adsorb large quantities of water [116], but hydrophobic porous carbons will adsorb less, depending on the level of oxidation [116,189]. Other constituents of air, such as N₂, O₂ and CO₂, will also be present in micropores in varying quantities. These environmental contaminants must be removed prior to a H₂ sorption measurement. Some porous materials, including many MOFs, however, are also sensitive to moisture [190–192] and must therefore be handled in an inert atmosphere.

Ideally, degassing should be monitored to determine whether such environmental contaminants have been removed from the sample prior to a sorption measurement. However, despite the importance of this, degassing curves for nanoporous materials are rarely reported. Significant differences, for example, can be seen in the data presented by Tedds et al. [82] for a commercial carbon molecular sieve, a porous organic polymer (PIM-1), Na-X zeolite and two MOFs (MOF-5 and Cu-BTC). This issue is intrinsically linked to determination of the degassed sample mass (see Section Degassed sample mass). It also depends on the technique because sample weight can be measured accurately *in situ* using gravimetric apparatus but must be determined independently in the manometric case, as noted in Section Degassed sample mass.

Samples may also become contaminated through contact with the sample holder in an instrument. This can occur, in particular, when samples are heated. If chemical reactions take place during H_2 sorption, the sample holder may be in contact with highly reactive materials at elevated temperatures. A pitfall, in this case, is therefore use of a sample holder made from an inappropriate material.

Gas impurities

Another important consideration is the purity of both the H_2 gas used in the measurement and the helium used for

calibration [35]. Its significance depends on the types of impurity, the sample and the technique. Various impurities can be found in H₂ [193], any of which may preferentially adsorb, for example, to nanoporous adsorbents; or contaminate and poison the surface of metal hydrides [121,122,184], thus affecting the measurement. Some contaminants may also decompose sensitive samples such as complex hydrides. For nanoporous materials, it again depends partly on the sample properties. Any moisture in the supply, for example, will be readily adsorbed by a hydrophilic material but hydrophobic materials will be less susceptible. However, regardless of the hydrophobicity or otherwise of the sample, many gaseous contaminants will preferentially adsorb in comparison to H₂ due to the relatively weak physical interaction of H_2 with surfaces [194], in comparison to most other species. An obvious way of avoiding problems with contamination is simply to maximise the H₂ purity but it is important to note that contaminants can be present in gases supplied directly from a cylinder, regardless of the quoted purity. It has been found, for example, that additional moisture can be present in cylinders [71], most likely due to water condensation prior to filling with high purity H₂. Solutions are available, however, including purification systems [78] or specialised set-ups from commercial gas suppliers. Air Products, for example, provide BIP cylinders, which include filters that purify gas as it exits the cylinder (see, for example, Tedds et al. [82]). This type of high purity supply can be combined with special regulator configurations that minimise contamination during supply changes [35].

Use of such high purity supplies, however, may not be sufficient to ensure that pure H_2 is delivered to the sample because contaminants can be introduced in the gas supply path from the cylinder to the instrument. If long lengths of tubing are used to deliver H_2 from the cylinder, purification near to the instrument is one possibility. Molecular sieves – for example, zeolites and carbons – can remove moisture, hydrocarbons and other environmental contaminants, such as CO₂, from H_2 but an alternative is to use a liquid N_2 trap, which will freeze out any vapour phase species. Such traps have been used in a number of H_2 adsorption studies [75,82,163,195,196]. Another option is direct delivery of H_2 from a metal hydride bed, which can provide very high gas purities [55,98,184,185].

For some metal hydrides, contaminated H_2 can cause fewer problems, particularly when materials are relatively resistant to contamination, but this depends on material type. A classic example is LaNi₅ and its derivatives because these materials are thought to bind O_2 and H_2O on their surface in the form of La oxides or hydroxides, while metallic Ni clusters dissociate H_2 prior to absorption [121,184,185,197,198]; although some disagreement on the details exists [186] and large concentrations of O_2 , for example, will still lead to degradation [185]. Other materials, most notably TiFe, however, are known to be more sensitive to impurities [36,37,184,199].

Regardless of differences between material types, however, using impure H_2 is a significant measurement pitfall. There have been well-documented incidences of moisture contamination leading to erroneous H_2 sorption results [71,72,74]. Contaminated H_2 should therefore be one of the first possibilities considered when anomalous H_2 sorption results are found, particularly for nanoporous materials and when using gravimetric methods due to the large mass signal of adsorbed impurity species compared to H_2 . Gravimetric systems also tend to have larger internal volumes, thus providing a greater source of impurities [107]. Similarly, any impurities present in helium used to determine void volume in manometric instruments or the sample volume more generally may contaminate the sample and thus affect measurements.

Isotherm measurement procedure

Various aspects of the isotherm measurement procedure can adversely affect results. Insufficient consideration of the approach taken is therefore a significant pitfall, so the adopted strategy must be considered carefully. In this section, the choice of equilibrium dosing pressures or steps is considered. Equilibration times are discussed separately in Section Achievement of equilibrium.

General considerations

Isotherm measurement involves successive determination of H₂ uptake at progressively higher pressures at a constant temperature. For accurate results, it must be ensured that, at each point, the pressure at which the uptake is determined approximates the real equilibrium pressure. For nanoporous materials exhibiting fully reversible H₂ adsorption this may be less of an issue. However, for any material that absorbs hydrogen, in a closed system, true equilibrium is unlikely to be achieved because the pressure drive decreases to zero as the pressure approaches a constant value. Many metal hydrides exhibit strong exothermic absorption, together with hysteresis [35,200,201]. The experimental procedure thus becomes more important because pressure and temperature excursions are irreversible. At any step, when pressure is increased, the sample absorbs and the pressure then drops, following the isochore (constant volume) path to meet the isotherm at the uptake for the resultant pressure, as shown in Fig. 5.

For a sample exhibiting hysteresis, the pressure at this uptake value will not be the same if the approach differs, for



Fig. 5 – Absorption and desorption isotherms for $LaNi_5$ at 23 °C showing the pressure steps involved. H/M is the hydrogen-to-metal atom ratio.

example, if pressure is decreasing as for desorption. The same is true for temperature excursions. Since the equilibrium state depends on the pressure and temperature history of the sample, different values for the equilibrium pressure at a specific uptake can be achieved depending on the temperature path. As many metal hydrides of practical interest exhibit exothermic absorption and endothermic desorption, some of the approach to equilibrium in an increasing pressure step occurs at a different temperature until the sample cools to the nominal isotherm temperature, complicating both the pathway and thermodynamics. Ideally, small pressure steps induce only small pressure and temperature excursions [106], minimising the effect of intrinsic irreversibility. However, this increases the uncertainty in the calculated molar uptake in the manometric case, due to error accumulation, as described below. This is less of an issue when performing gravimetric measurements isobarically.

The large aliquot effect

A related complication for metal hydrides exhibiting hysteresis and a significant heat of reaction is the occurrence of the large aliquot effect [106,200,202-204]. If a large pressure step is applied to a homogenous sample, the entire sample begins to absorb strongly, generating heat due to the exothermic reaction. Parts of the sample far from the container wall or other heat sinks increase more in temperature than those close to heat sinks; absorption then slows or stops or it is possible these parts may even desorb. Material in close proximity to heat sinks, however, continues to absorb. This reduces the pressure, which, in turn, further increases the likelihood of desorption by higher temperature parts of the sample. This leads to compositional gradients in terms of hydrogen content - even after thermal equilibrium has been achieved [108,205]. As the sample cools, depending on the thermal conductivity of the bed, those parts of the sample that absorbed strongly may desorb and parts containing less hydrogen may begin to absorb. If desorption occurs at any stage, the resultant absorption isotherm will typically show a lower equilibrium pressure, closer to the desorption isotherm, depending on the chosen pressure step size [106].

To illustrate the compositional gradients that can occur in a metal hydride bed, Fig. 6 shows the calculated reacted fraction (proportion of hydride to non-hydride) for LaNi₅ subjected to a single aliquot of hydrogen. The measurements were made 5000 s after hydrogen loading, when thermal equilibration is complete. Material close to the actively cooled cell walls is almost fully hydrided, while material close to the cell centre is almost completely unreacted. The likelihood of such effects occurring in metal hydride beds during H₂ sorption measurement should not be ignored.

Isotherm points and propagation of uncertainties

More generally, the uncertainty in any sorption measurement depends on the uncertainty in all measured values, including temperature, pressure, volume and weight. These uncertainties propagate so careful consideration of the effects of this propagation is important. This is a particular concern for manometric measurements in which uncertainties accumulate through an isotherm [35,80,97]. Fig. 7 shows an adsorption isotherm with error bars from the calculated uncertainties



Fig. 6 – Calculated reacted fraction (proportion of hydride to non-hydride) for a LaNi₅ sample subjected to a single aliquot of hydrogen [205]. (Reprinted from International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 42(10), S. S. Mohammadshahi et al., Experimental and theoretical study of compositional inhomogeneities in LaNi₅D_x owing to temperature gradients and pressure hysteresis, investigated using spatially resolved in-situ neutron diffraction, 6793–6800, Copyright (2017), with permission from Elsevier).

demonstrating the accumulation of uncertainties with each successive pressure step. The main practical pitfall, in a well calibrated and validated system, is failure to consider this aspect of the measurement technique when setting the experimental parameters; principally the number of isotherm points [85]. A compromise must be found between the amount of information required, with regard to isotherm shape, and the accuracy of uptake determination. This is also important for gas adsorption measurements, in general [116].

Achievement of equilibrium

Isotherms describe equilibrium behaviour, so it is important to ensure that sorption is practically complete at each isotherm point [84]. An exception is when measurements are deliberately made under non-equilibrium conditions [96,203,206] but this is a special case not considered here. Rates of sorption or desorption vary significantly between material types, due to differences in the physical and chemical interaction of H₂ with different elements or compounds [7,36,37,122,194], but it also varies as a function of both temperature and pressure. Different approaches can be used to determine or define equilibration times but a simple mistake, for example, is to choose a fixed period that is too short for the process being investigated. The importance of this, for performing accurate equilibrium H₂ sorption measurements, cannot be overstated. This section considers this issue for different material types.



Fig. 7 — An adsorption isotherm for a commercial carbon molecular sieve, Takeda 4A, measured at 23 °C in a manometric apparatus, showing the error accumulation from successive doses [85]. (Reprinted from International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 39(1), C. J. Webb and E. M. Gray, Analysis of the uncertainties in gas uptake measurements using the Sieverts method, 366–375, Copyright (2014), with permission from Elsevier).

Metal hydrides

The kinetics of hydrogen sorption by metal hydrides vary significantly between different host elements, alloys and intermetallics [7,122], but size effects are also important [207,208]. For intermetallics, intrinsic kinetics are often rapid and the approach to equilibrium is instead dominated by thermal equilibration following the increase in temperature from the exothermic reaction between H₂ and the material [104,105]. In other cases, absorption is slow and the approach to equilibrium is dominated by the intrinsic kinetics of hydrogen absorption or the rate of hydride phase formation. An example is Mg, which during absorption forms a (MgH_2) hydride shell on the surface in which hydrogen diffusion is slow [37,39,209]. Reaction kinetics and hydrogen diffusion rates vary significantly with temperature, typically following the Arrhenius relation at near-ambient temperatures and above [7,210,211], so this should also be considered. Kinetics can also vary significantly through the course of a single isotherm measurement. This has been demonstrated, for example, for Pd [100]. In the study by Benham and Ross [100], Pd foil was hydrided isobarically. At the start of the plateau, the absorption rate was found to drop dramatically due to the onset of β phase formation in the α phase matrix.

Functions can be fitted to uptake curves at each isotherm point, allowing use of numerical criteria to define achievement of equilibrium [100], which avoids the need to predefine fixed equilibration times. This minimises the length of an experiment because it can account for differences in sorption rates at different stages of the process, but it also helps avoid problems with insufficient equilibration by precisely defining the required conditions. A cruder approach is to simply wait for pressure or weight (and temperature) to stabilise in the manometric or gravimetric techniques, respectively. This is the main approach taken when making measurements manually.

Complex hydrides

Interaction between H₂ and elements or compounds that form complex hydrides differs fundamentally to absorption of atomic hydrogen, as screened protons, by metals forming interstitial metal hydrides. Complex hydride formation instead results from a chemical reaction between H₂ and the solid; and, in some cases, liquids [14]. This requires a phase transformation, resulting in formation of a compound containing, for example, hydrogen covalently bound in anionic metal complexes [9]. It is not within the scope of this article to discuss these aspects in detail - and, indeed, the mechanisms in many cases are not yet fully understood [10,14,212-214] but the important point is to carefully consider the expected sorption process when defining experimental protocols. Hydrogen absorption by complex hydrides tends to be slow and it is even possible that the sorption kinetics of some materials are too sluggish for equilibrium to be achieved within a reasonable experimental timeframe. Extreme examples of this, with regard to hydrogen desorption, are kinetically stabilised materials such as AlH₃ [215–218] and LiAlH₄ [215,219].

Nanoporous materials

In contrast, H₂ adsorption by most nanoporous materials is rapid (see, for example, Panella and Hirscher [220] and Zhao et al. [221]). Adsorption kinetics are thus difficult to distinguish from thermal effects due to the adiabatic expansion of H₂ and the exothermic nature of H₂ adsorption. For materials that physically adsorb (or physisorb) H₂ at low temperature, no chemical reactions occur so the process is not complicated by the large amounts of heat generated during absorption of hydrogen by metal hydrides or by the rate of hydride phase formation. Thermal effects are always present but if they are insignificant the approach to equilibrium will instead be dominated by H₂ diffusion through the pore network or by entry of H₂ into the pores through the surface of each particle [222]. Nevertheless, for nanoporous materials, it is best to simply wait for pressure and temperature stabilisation in the manometric case, and weight and temperature stabilisation in the gravimetric case. A few minutes will often be sufficient [220,221], although this may depend on pressure [223].

Data reduction

Following a sorption experiment, measurements of temperature, pressure, and volume or weight need to be combined with the volume of the sample in order to calculate uptake. During this process, a number of assumptions must be made. Poor choices can lead to errors in the calculated quantity, regardless of the accuracy of the original measurements. Calculations must always be performed carefully but, in this section, we consider two important factors, namely, the description of the real gas behaviour of H_2 , which is relevant to any H_2 sorption study performed at elevated (above ambient) pressure, and differences between the excess and absolute adsorbed quantities, which applies to H_2 adsorption by porous materials. In addition, different definitions of capacity are discussed.

Real gas behaviour

 H_2 cannot be treated as an ideal gas, except under particular circumstances. For example, at ambient temperature and just

17 kPa, the relative difference between the non-ideal and ideal treatment of H_2 exceeds 0.01%, similar to the accuracy of a good pressure transducer. By 10 MPa, the difference is approximately 6%, while larger variations occur at lower temperatures – see, for example, Zhou and Zhou [224]. The compressibility factor, *Z*, must therefore be used in the majority of calculations. This can be determined using an equation of state (EOS). Many EOSs are available but accurate options are implemented in commercial packages, such as the NIST REFPROP database [225], which uses the Leachman et al. [226] EOS for H₂.

Different EOSs can generally be categorised as either cubic or multiparameter expressions. The former include the Soave-Redlich-Kwong [227] and Peng-Robinson [228] equations. These describe the pressure-density relationship in terms of the critical temperature, critical pressure and an acentric factor, which describes the non-sphericity of a molecule [229,230]. A hydrogen-specific EOS, based on the van der Waals EOS, was also presented by Hemmes et al. [231]. This was subsequently modified for D₂ by McLennan and Gray [232]. Multiparameter EOSs, meanwhile, include the Benedict-Webb-Rubin (BWR) equation [233] and its modified variants [234], and the Leachman et al. [226] expression. Further details can be found in Broom [35].

The effect of using different EOSs on the results of H_2 sorption measurements has been examined by a number of authors [76,224,235]. Significant differences in the calculated H_2 uptakes have been observed so the chosen EOS must be considered carefully.

Excess and absolute adsorption

An issue specific to H₂ adsorption by nanoporous materials [38,236] is consideration of excess and absolute adsorption. Treatment of adsorption in terms of excess quantities dates back to early work by Gibbs in the late 19th century [237]. It involves defining a reference state for adsorption by determining the position of the Gibbs dividing surface [116,120,142]. This can be assumed to represent the position of the surface of the solid, although this does not have to be the case - the key requirement is consistency. Nevertheless, helium is typically used under the assumption that it does not interact with the material under the measurement conditions [140-143]. This is intrinsically linked to consideration of the volume or density of the sample, as discussed in Section Sample size. However, for this discussion, it will be assumed that the initial position of the surface of the sample can be adequately determined using helium and that the same calculated sample volume is used for the duration of the experiment, regardless of changes in the sample. In this case, the calculated amount of adsorbed H₂ is the excess adsorption. This is defined as the amount of H₂ adsorbed over and above the H₂ that would be present in the same volume in the absence of any interaction between H₂ and the surface. Excess adsorption initially increases as a function of pressure, then reaches a maximum and decreases as the gas density increases further [38,143,235,236,238-243].

To estimate the total amount of adsorbed H_2 , commonly known as the absolute adsorption [35,143,236,240,242,243], an additional calculation is required, based on an assumption about the adsorbed phase – the H_2 contained within the adsorption field of the material [236,244]. Two main assumptions can be made. The adsorbed phase is considered to have either a constant volume or a constant density [236,244]. However, neither quantity is likely to be constant, nor can they be determined accurately by any known experimental technique, and assuming too large a volume or too low a density will lead to an overestimated absolute adsorbed quantity. Significant pitfalls when studying H₂ adsorption by porous materials are therefore insufficient consideration of differences between the excess and absolute adsorption from the experimentally-determined excess. It should be noted, however, that the difference between excess and absolute only becomes significant at elevated pressures [236], as shown in Fig. 8, using the example of CH₄ adsorption on 13X (Na-X) zeolite.³

An alternative definition is *net adsorption*, as proposed by Gumma and Talu [137]. This circumvents problems associated with defining or determining the sample volume and is defined as the amount of H_2 adsorbed over and above the H_2 that would be present in the same volume in the absence of any sample. For H_2 storage, this definition is useful for determining the performance of a tank filled with adsorbent compared to one containing only compressed H_2 and in identifying the pressure at which a maximum in the storage capacity is reached, in comparison to gas compression alone [243]. Net adsorption is yet to be widely adopted but further investigation of its use in adsorption studies may lead to its wider acceptance.

Capacity definitions

In addition to considering excess and absolute adsorption, hydrogen uptake capacity is reported in various ways that can depend on the application. For H_2 storage, the ratio of the weight of H_2 to the system weight (kg H_2/kg) is an effective gravimetric measure, whereas the amount of H_2 per unit volume of the system (kg H_2/l) gives a volumetric capacity. System weight or volume can include the material, tank and accessories, such as heat management and safety devices. Gravimetric and volumetric system capacities can also be expressed in terms of the energy available in the H_2 as kWh/kg and kWh/l, respectively [246].

When focussing only on the material, volumetric capacity can be defined as the quantity of hydrogen per unit volume, for example, the crystal cell volume for hydrides [36]. Alternatively, the number of absorbed hydrogen atoms can be expressed as a stoichiometry, for example, x in LaNi₅H_x, or as a hydrogen-to-metal atom ratio (H/M), so that, for example, H/ M = 1 for LaNi₅H₆; these approaches ignore volumetric or gravimetric considerations so they are less useful for storage applications but are favourable for fundamental work. For example, it is more helpful in crystallographic studies to consider the number of H atoms present in each unit cell, as compared to volumetric or gravimetric capacities. For adsorbents, a common unit is mol g⁻¹ [120]. This is effectively a gravimetric capacity, expressed as a ratio of the molar

 $^{^3}$ CH₄ adsorption data was chosen for Fig. 8 because it more clearly illustrates the difference between excess and absolute, and the peculiar behaviour of the excess, than any published H₂ adsorption data of which the authors are currently aware.



Fig. 8 – Absolute and excess isotherms for adsorption of CH_4 on 13X molecular sieve at 258.15 K and 318.15 K. Closed symbols: experimental data for excess adsorption [245]. Open symbols: absolute adsorption [243]. (Reproduced from Adsorption, Physical adsorption of gases: the case for absolute adsorption as the basis for thermodynamic analysis, 20, 2014, 591–622, A. L. Myers, P. A. Monson. Copyright Springer Science + Business Media New York 2014. With permission of Springer).

quantity of adsorbate (H₂) to the dry weight of the sample. However, for both hydrides and adsorbents, material capacity is commonly quoted in wt% – a percentage ratio of the weight of hydrogen stored to the weight of the material. To further complicate matters, there are two ways to calculate wt%, either from the ratio of hydrogen weight to the weight of the material alone [35,188], or the ratio of hydrogen weight to the weight of the material including hydrogen [35,36]. As an example, for LaNi₅H₆, the former method gives a gravimetric capacity of 1.40 wt% and the latter, 1.38 wt%. For Mg(BH₄)₂, the differently calculated capacities are 17.6 wt% and 14.9 wt%, respectively. The relative importance of using the different definitions therefore differs between material types.

Capacity can therefore be expressed in a variety of ways and it is important that consistent methods are used when making comparisons. Furthermore, some materials do not completely desorb, or they only desorb fully at impractically high temperatures for some applications. The latter is a particular issue, for example, for hydrogen storage in complex hydrides [14,37]. The capacity of a material in the practical part of the sorption-desorption cycle can be referred to as the *reversible* or *usable capacity*, as compared to the total capacity [36]. In addition, intended applications typically impose restrictions on pressure and temperature that limit the range over which the material can practically sorb and desorb H_2 , even if complete desorption is possible. For example, for automotive H_2 storage, delivery pressure is the minimum feed pressure for a fuel cell [247], and the storage temperature should be within safe limits and not incur significant energy penalties. Some materials may have a high total capacity but sorption involves multiple processes, some of which are not kinetically or thermodynamically viable, restricting the amount of H_2 that can be reversibly sorbed. In this case, for a particular application, the usable or reversible capacity can be defined as the amount of H_2 that sorbs and desorbs between the upper and lower pressures, within a practical timeframe and the required temperature range [36,82,242,248].

From a technological perspective, usable capacity is most important, but for fundamental studies the total hydrogen content may be more meaningful. Calculating the capacity of a material inappropriately can therefore be considered another pitfall in the characterisation of the hydrogen sorption properties of materials.

Discussion

In this article, we have identified and described potential pitfalls in the characterisation of the hydrogen sorption properties of materials. If these are avoided, in principle, accurate measurements can be made. However, difficulties relating to the nature of the material being investigated and the suitability of a given apparatus to the sample and measurement type become more significant as measurements become more challenging so, in some cases, particular care is required. A notable example from the literature is the study by Liu et al. [249] who revisited earlier work on carbon nanotubes. In their 2010 study, the authors acknowledged that the apparatus they used previously [92] was not sufficiently accurate for carbon nanotubes because, while it was designed to make accurate measurements on high density metal hydrides, system errors due to pressure accuracy, temperature fluctuations and sample volume determination were all amplified by using a low density sample in a small sample cell.

The disparity in the data found in the recent interlaboratory exercises, which demonstrated poor reproducibility between international laboratories, is certainly a cause for concern. The H₂ adsorption measurements reported by Zlotea et al. [94] are particularly prone to error for a number of reasons. Firstly, low temperatures (77 K) and pressures up to 10 MPa are conditions under which these measurements are more difficult, resulting in lower accuracy. Secondly, H₂ adsorption measurements made at ambient temperature are challenging because uptakes are lower under these conditions, due to the weak van der Waals interactions of H₂ with surfaces. The equivalent absolute uncertainty in each measurement thus represents a large proportional uncertainty, leading to a greater expected percentage variation in the results, regardless of any systematic errors. Thirdly, errors are greater for low density materials [79], of which porous carbon is a good example.

Variations seen in the data for the MgH₂-based material [95] are maybe more surprising, for the following reasons. Firstly, hydrogen absorption by hydrides is generally more straightforward than H₂ adsorption by nanoporous materials because issues related to excess and absolute adsorption (Section Excess and absolute adsorption) do not apply; though changes in sample density during absorption (Section General

considerations) can be considered analogous. Secondly, MgH₂ and modified variants have been widely studied – hundreds of results can be found in the literature. Pure MgH₂ is also known to have a maximum theoretical hydrogen storage capacity of 7.6 wt%. In contrast, for example, the uptake for carbon-based materials is unknown and a maximum theoretical capacity cannot be determined, so results have been reported without censure, giving rise to some high profile controversies [88]. Thirdly, all groups involved in the study by Moretto et al. [95] have experience of measuring hydrogen sorption so awareness of the pitfalls described above could be expected.

Pinpointing the reasons for the discrepancies is difficult; however, the Mg-H₂ reaction presents experimental challenges that could exacerbate some of the problems. The enthalpy of formation, for example, is high, at -75 kJ mol⁻¹ [39,250], leading to significant temperature changes during absorption and desorption. The kinetics are also slow and highly temperature dependent. Judging equilibrium is more difficult for slow reactions and long equilibration times place additional requirements on thermal stability and leak integrity. Failing to wait for equilibrium can introduce experimental artefacts such as shortened equilibrium plateaux, hysteresis and inaccurate thermodynamic properties [251]. These factors may therefore help explain the observed disparity.

Regardless, if an attempt by Moretto et al. [95] to obtain agreement between different laboratories using apparently identical samples led to such variations in the measured uptake, this leads to the rather obvious question regarding the veracity of individual reports in the literature of the hydrogen sorption properties of different hydrides. So this is not just an issue for H₂ adsorption by nanostructured carbons and related materials, which have been the main focus of recent controversies [88]. It also emphasises the need to increase our understanding and appreciation of the pitfalls involved in H₂ uptake measurements and how to avoid them. One way of identifying specific problems with irreproducibility would be to perform further interlaboratory exercises, accompanied by thorough investigation of precise differences between the apparatus and measurement protocols of the participants. However, such studies would require a considerable amount of time and effort, and hence funding.

It is worth emphasising that a number of approaches can be used by individual researchers to increase confidence in the veracity of results. Prior to commencing experimental work, for example, the equipment, calibrations and data processing methods can be checked by routine measurement of empty cell or sample holder isotherms and H₂ sorption isotherms on well-understood materials (Section System validation). Measurements can be validated by repeating the experiment under differing conditions to verify repeatability and to investigate the effects of using different sample sizes, varying the number of isotherm points and varying equilibration times. Consistency of the isotherm calculations can be checked by repeating calculations with a range of sample density values (Section General considerations) and by changing the equation of state (Section Real gas behaviour). Significant discrepancies observed in calculated equilibrium H₂ uptake values can provide clues to areas of particular sensitivity for both the apparatus and sample, and help

researchers identify when measurement error may be important. A particularly useful approach is to use different techniques, for example, both gravimetric and manometric measurements. Use of such cross-checks should therefore be encouraged to help avoid the pitfalls described in this article. A simple validation for any result is to repeat the experiment, preferably three or four times or more [252] – as Hibbert and Thordarson [252] say: "It is dangerous to report results based on a single experiment." While not guaranteeing reproducibility between different laboratories, repeatable results provide confidence that spurious errors or random variations have been avoided.

Before concluding, it is also worth noting that some of the practical difficulties of H₂ adsorption measurement are shared by measurements of the adsorption of other gases. A number of studies, for example, have discussed the issues for the measurement of CH4 and CO2 adsorption by porous materials [253-257]. Interlaboratory exercises have also been performed on activated carbons [258] and natural materials such as coals [259,260] and shales [261]. Common ground exists between these measurement types. The most significant difference between them is the differing physical properties of the gases, which are generally accounted for by using different equations of state, but other factors complicate a direct comparison. For example, for gravimetric measurements, H₂ sorption is more challenging to measure due to its low molar mass. However, CO₂ adsorption can be difficult to measure under certain conditions due to the strong dependence of its compressibility factor on temperature and pressure near its critical point [253,256,257]. Nevertheless, many of the pitfalls identified in this article also apply to CO₂ and CH₄ adsorption measurements, as discussed in some detail by Gasparik et al. [261]. Related work in other fields can also be found in the literature, including gas sorption by polymers [112], N₂ adsorption for surface area determination [135,262-264] and high pressure gas adsorption, more generally [265-268]. Progress made in any of the above fields may therefore benefit the others.

Conclusions

This article has discussed potential pitfalls encountered in the measurement of hydrogen sorption by different materials. They have been grouped into issues associated with instrument design and calibration, sample size, sample and gas purity, isotherm measurement procedure, achievement of equilibrium, and data reduction. While a basic manometric sorption measurement system is not difficult to construct from off-the-shelf components, any of the pitfalls addressed in this article can significantly affect the obtained results. Commercial instruments capable of making H₂ sorption measurements are available from various suppliers. However, the error sources inherent to both manometric and gravimetric sorption measurements mean that even high accuracy commercial units should not be treated as "black boxes" and therefore all considerations covered in this article should be taken into account when defining experimental protocols, performing experiments, analysing data, and assessing likely errors and uncertainties. Hopefully, as awareness of the problems that can occur when characterising the H₂ sorption

properties of materials continues to grow, the quality of published data will also improve. We hope this article will contribute positively to such improvements.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank one of the anonymous reviewers for their valuable and insightful comments.

REFERENCES

- Alefeld G, Völkl J, editors. Topics in applied physics vol. 28: Hydrogen in metals I. Basic properties. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 1978.
- [2] Alefeld G, Völkl J, editors. Topics in applied physics vol. 29: Hydrogen in metals II. Application-oriented properties. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 1978.
- [3] Buschow KHJ, Bouten PCP, Miedema AR. Hydrides formed from intermetallic compounds of two transition metals: a special class of ternary alloys. Rep Prog Phys 1982;45(9):937–1039.
- [4] Schlapbach L, editor. Topics in applied physics vol. 63: Hydrogen in intermetallic compounds I. Electronic, thermodynamic and crystallographic properties, preparation. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 1988.
- [5] Schlapbach L, editor. Topics in applied physics vol. 67: Hydrogen in intermetallic compounds II. Surface and dynamic properties, applications. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 1992.
- [6] Wipf H, editor. Topics in applied physics vol. 73: Hydrogen in metals III. Properties and applications. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 1997.
- [7] Fukai Y. The metal-hydrogen system: basic bulk properties. 2nd ed. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 2005.
- [8] Graham T. On the absorption and dialytic separation of gases by colloid septa. Philos Trans R Soc Lond 1866;156:399–439.
- [9] Orimo S, Nakamori Y, Eliseo JR, Züttel A, Jensen CM. Complex hydrides for hydrogen storage. Chem Rev 2007;107(10):4111–32.
- [10] Callini E, Atakli ZÖK, Hauback BC, Orimo S, Jensen C, Dornheim M, et al. Complex and liquid hydrides for energy storage. Appl Phys A 2016;122(4):353.
- [11] Bogdanović B, Schwickardi M. Ti-doped alkali metal aluminium hydrides as potential novel reversible hydrogen storage materials. J Alloy Compd 1997;253–254:1–9.
- [12] Züttel A, Wenger P, Rentsch S, Sudan P, Mauron Ph, Emmenegger Ch. LiBH₄ a new hydrogen storage material. J Power Sources 2003;118(1-2):1-7.
- [13] Ley MB, Jepsen LH, Lee Y-S, Cho YW, Bellosta von Colbe JM, Dornheim M, et al. Complex hydrides for hydrogen storage – new perspectives. Mater Today 2014;17(3):122–8.
- [14] Paskevicius M, Jepsen LH, Schouwink P, Černý R, Ravnsbæk DB, Filinchuk Y, et al. Metal borohydrides and derivatives – synthesis, structure and properties. Chem Soc Rev 2017;46:1565–634.
- [15] Chen P, Xiong Z, Luo J, Lin J, Tan KL. Interaction of hydrogen with metal nitrides and imides. Nature 2002;420:302–4.
- [16] Gregory DH. Lithium nitrides, imides and amides as lightweight, reversible hydrogen stores. J Mater Chem 2008;18:2321–30.
- [17] Smith ZP, Tiwari RR, Murphy TM, Sanders DF, Gleason KL, Paul DR, et al. Hydrogen sorption in polymers for membrane applications. Polymer 2013;54(12):3026–37.

- [18] Galizia M, Smith ZP, Sarti GC, Freeman BD, Paul DR. Predictive calculation of hydrogen and helium solubility in glassy and rubbery polymers. J Membr Sci 2015;475:110–21.
- [19] Mukaddam M, Litwiller E, Pinnau I. Gas sorption, diffusion, and permeation in Nafion. Macromolecules 2016;49(1):280-6.
- [20] Yürüm Y, Taralp A, Veziroglu TN. Storage of hydrogen in nanostructured carbon materials. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2009;34(9):3784–98.
- [21] Presser V, Heon M, Gogotsi Y. Carbide-derived carbons from porous networks to nanotubes and graphene. Adv Funct Mater 2011;21(5):810–33.
- [22] Wang J, Kaskel S. KOH activation of carbon-based materials for energy storage. J Mater Chem 2012;22:23710–25.
- [23] Langmi HW, Walton A, Al-Mamouri MM, Johnson SR, Book D, Speight JD, et al. Hydrogen adsorption in zeolites A, X, Y and RHO. J Alloy Compd 2003;356–357:710–5.
- [24] Thomas KM. Adsorption and desorption of hydrogen on metal-organic framework materials for storage applications: comparison with other nanoporous materials. Dalton Trans 2009:1487–505.
- [25] Suh MP, Park HJ, Prasad TK, Lim D-W. Hydrogen storage in metal-organic frameworks. Chem Rev 2012;112(2):782–835.
- [26] Langmi HW, Ren J, North B, Mathe M, Bessarabov D. Hydrogen storage in metal-organic frameworks: a review. Electrochim Acta 2014;128:368–92.
- [27] Dawson R, Cooper AI, Adams DJ. Nanoporous organic polymer networks. Prog Polym Sci 2012;37(4):530–63.
- [28] Xiang Z, Cao D. Porous covalent-organic materials: synthesis, clean energy application and design. J Mater Chem A 2013;1:2691–718.
- [29] Ramimoghadam D, Gray EM, Webb CJ. Review of polymers of intrinsic microporosity for hydrogen storage applications. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2016;41(38):16944–65.
- [30] Schlapbach L, Züttel A. Hydrogen-storage materials for mobile applications. Nature 2001;414:353–8.
- [31] Züttel A. Materials for hydrogen storage. Mater Today 2003;6(9):24–33.
- [32] Walker G, editor. Solid-state hydrogen storage: materials and chemistry. Cambridge: Woodhead Publishing; 2008.
- [33] Eberle U, Felderhoff M, Schüth F. Chemical and physical solutions for hydrogen storage. Angew Chem Int Ed 2009;48(36):6608–30.
- [34] Hirscher M, editor. Handbook of hydrogen storage: new materials for future energy storage. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH; 2010.
- [35] Broom DP. Hydrogen storage materials: the characterisation of their storage properties. London: Springer; 2011.
- [36] Sandrock G. A panoramic overview of hydrogen storage alloys from a gas reaction point of view. J Alloy Compd 1999;293–295:877–88.
- [37] Sakintuna B, Lamari-Darkrim F, Hirscher M. Metal hydride materials for solid hydrogen storage: a review. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2007;32(9):1121–40.
- [38] Broom DP, Webb CJ, Hurst KE, Parilla PA, Gennett T, Brown CM, et al. Outlook and challenges for hydrogen storage in nanoporous materials. Appl Phys A 2016;122(3):151.
- [39] Crivello J-C, Dam B, Denys RV, Dornheim M, Grant DM, Huot J, et al. Review of magnesium hydride-based materials: development and optimisation. Appl Phys A 2016;122(2):97.
- [40] Willems JJG, Buschow KHJ. From permanent magnets to rechargeable hydride electrodes. J Less Common Met 1987;129:13–30.
- [41] Yartys V, Noreus D, Latroche M. Metal hydrides as negative electrode materials for Ni-MH batteries. Appl Phys A 2016;122(1):43.

- [42] Sheppard DA, Paskevicius M, Humphries TD, Felderhoff M, Capurso G, Bellosta von Colbe J, et al. Metal hydrides for concentrating solar thermal power energy storage. Appl Phys A 2016;122(4):395.
- [43] Ward PA, Corgnale C, Teprovich Jr JA, Motyka T, Hardy B, Sheppard D, et al. Technical challenges and future direction for high-efficiency metal hydride thermal energy storage systems. Appl Phys A 2016;122(4):462.
- [44] Vanderhoff A, Kim KJ. Experimental study of a metal hydride driven braided artificial pneumatic muscle. Smart Mater Struct 2009;18(12):125014.
- [45] Prina M, Bowman Jr RC, Kulleck JG. Degradation study of ZrNiH_{1.5} for use as actuators in gas gap heat switches. J Alloy Compd 2004;373(1-2):104-14.
- [46] Reiter JW, Karlmann PB, Bowman Jr RC, Prina M. Performance and degradation of gas-gap heat switches in hydride compressor beds. J Alloy Compd 2007;446–447:713–7.
- [47] Lototskyy MV, Yartys VA, Pollet BG, Bowman Jr RC. Metal hydride hydrogen compressors: a review. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2014;39(11):5818–51.
- [48] Yartys VA, Lototskyy M, Linkov V, Grant D, Stuart A, Eriksen J, et al. Metal hydride hydrogen compression: recent advances and future prospects. Appl Phys A 2016;122(4):415.
- [49] Bowman Jr RC. Development of metal hydride beds for sorption cryocoolers in space applications. J Alloy Compd 2003;356–357:789–93.
- [50] Penzhorn R-D, Devillers M, Sirch M. Evaluation of ZrCo and other getters for tritium handling and storage. J Nucl Mater 1990;170(3):217–31.
- [51] Yoon YJ, Kim KW, Baik HK, Jang S-W, Lee S-M. Effects of catalytic surface layer on Zr-based alloy getters for hydrogen absorption. Thin Solid Films 1999;350(1–2):138–42.
- [52] Liu CZ, Shi LQ, Xu SL, Zhou ZY, Luo SZ, Long XG. Kinetics of hydrogen uptake for getter materials. Vacuum 2004;75(1):71–8.
- [53] Zhang T, Zhang M, Hu R, Kou H, Li J, Xue X. Hydrogen absorption behavior of a Pd-coated Zr70Fe5.4V24.6 getter material against gaseous impurities. Vacuum 2015;122:222–9.
- [54] Bowman Jr RC, Fultz B. Metallic hydrides I: hydrogen storage and other gas-phase applications. MRS Bull 2002;27(9):688–93.
- [55] Sandrock S, Bowman Jr RC. Gas-based hydride applications: recent progress and future needs. J Alloy Compd 2003;356–357:794–9.
- [56] Ockwig NW, Nenoff TM. Membranes for hydrogen separation. Chem Rev 2007;107(10):4078–110.
- [57] Reilly JJ, Adzic GD, Johnson JR, Vogt T, Mukerjee S, McBreen J. The correlation between composition and electrochemical properties of metal hydride electrodes. J Alloy Compd 1999;293–295:569–82.
- [58] Notten PHL, Ouwerkerk M, Ledovskikh A, Senoh H, Iwakura C. Hydride-forming electrode materials seen from a kinetic perspective. J Alloy Compd 2003;356–357:759–63.
- [59] Fetcenko MA, Ovshinsky SR, Reichman B, Young K, Fierro C, Koch J, et al. Recent advances in NiMH battery technology. J Power Sources 2007;165(2):544–51.
- [60] Young K, Ouchi T, Nei J, Wang L. Annealing effects on Laves phase-related body-centred-cubic solid solution metal hydride alloys. J Alloy Compd 2016;654:216–25.
- [61] Sircar S, Golden TC. Pressure swing adsorption technology for hydrogen production. In: Liu K, Song C, Subramani V, editors. Hydrogen and syngas production and purification technologies. New Jersey: Wiley; 2010. p. 414–50.
- [62] Sanders DF, Smith ZP, Guo R, Robeson LM, McGrath JE, Paul DR, et al. Energy-efficient polymeric gas separation

membranes for a sustainable future: a review. Polymer 2013;54(18):4729-61.

- [63] Shao L, Low BT, Chung T-S, Greenberg AR. Polymeric membranes for the hydrogen economy: contemporary approaches and prospects for the future. J Membr Sci 2009;327(1–2):18–31.
- [64] Kumar AVA, Jobic H, Bhatia SK. Quantum effects on adsorption and diffusion of hydrogen and deuterium in microporous materials. J Phys Chem B 2006;110(33):16666–71.
- [65] Zhao X, Villar-Rodil S, Fletcher AJ, Thomas KM. Kinetic isotope effect for H_2 and D_2 quantum molecular sieving in adsorption/desorption on porous carbon materials. J Phys Chem B 2006;110(20):9947–55.
- [66] Cai J, Xing Y, Zhao X. Quantum sieving: feasibility and challenges for the separation of hydrogen isotopes in nanoporous materials. RSC Adv 2012;2:8579–86.
- [67] Oh H, Kalidindi SB, Um Y, Bureekaew S, Schmid R, Fischer RA, et al. A cryogenically flexible covalent organic framework for efficient hydrogen isotope separation by quantum sieving. Angew Chem Int Ed 2013;52(50):13219–22.
- [68] Oh H, Hirscher M. Quantum sieving for separation of hydrogen isotopes using MOFs. Eur J Inorg Chem 2016:4278–89.
- [69] Kloutse AF, Zacharia R, Cossement D, Chahine R, Balderas-Xicohténcatl R, Oh H, et al. Isosteric heat of hydrogen adsorption on MOFs: comparison between adsorption calorimetry, sorption isosteric method, and analytical models. Appl Phys A 2015;121(4):2.
- [70] Wang X-L, Suda S. Consistent determination of the intrinsic kinetic properties between hydrogen and hydriding alloys. J Alloy Compd 1995;231(1–2):660–5.
- [71] Yang RT. Hydrogen storage by alkali-doped carbon nanotubes-revisited. Carbon 2000;38(4):623–41.
- [72] Pinkerton FE, Wicke BG, Olk CH, Tibbetts GG, Meisner GP, Meyer MS, et al. Thermogravimetric measurement of hydrogen absorption in alkali-modified carbon materials. J Phys Chem B 2000;104(40):9460–7.
- [73] Tibbetts GG, Meisner GP, Olk CH. Hydrogen storage capacity of carbon nanotubes, filaments, and vapour-grown fibers. Carbon 2001;39(15):2291–301.
- [74] Skákalová V, Quintel A, Choi Y-M, Roth S, Becher M, Hirscher M. Chemical processes during solid state reaction of carbon with alkali salts prepared for gravimetric hydrogen storage measurements. Chem Phys Lett 2002;365(3–4):333–7.
- [75] Kiyobayashi T, Takeshita HT, Tanaka H, Takeichi N, Züttel A, Schlapbach L, et al. Hydrogen adsorption in carbonaceous materials – how to determine the storage capacity accurately. J Alloy Compd 2002;330–332:666–9.
- [76] Zhang C, Lu X, Gu A. How to accurately determine the uptake of hydrogen in carbonaceous materials. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2004;29(12):1271–6.
- [77] Blackman JM, Patrick JW, Snape CE. An accurate volumetric differential pressure method for the determination of hydrogen storage capacity at high pressures in carbon materials. Carbon 2006;44(5):918–27.
- [78] Thomas KM. Hydrogen adsorption and storage on porous materials. Catal Today 2007;120(3–4):389–98.
- [79] Blach TP, Gray EM. Sieverts apparatus and methodology for accurate determination of hydrogen uptake by light-atom hosts. J Alloy Compd 2007;446–447:692–7.
- [80] Broom DP. The accuracy of hydrogen sorption measurements on potential storage materials. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2007;32(18):4871–88.
- [81] Gray EM. Reliably measuring hydrogen uptake in storage materials. In: Walker G, editor. Solid-state hydrogen

storage: materials and chemistry. Cambridge: Woodhead Publishing; 2008. p. 174–204.

- [82] Tedds S, Walton A, Broom DP, Book D. Characterisation of porous hydrogen storage materials: carbons, zeolites, MOFs and PIMs. Faraday Discuss 2011;151:75–94.
- [83] Hruzewicz-Kołodziejczyk A, Ting VP, Bimbo N, Mays TJ. Improving comparability of hydrogen storage capacities of nanoporous materials. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2012;37(3):2728–36.
- [84] Demirocak DE, Srinivasan SS, Ram MK, Goswami DY, Stefanakos EK. Volumetric hydrogen sorption measurements – uncertainty error analysis and the importance of thermal equilibration time. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2013;38(3):1469–77.
- [85] Webb CJ, Gray EM. Analysis of the uncertainties in gas uptake measurements using the Sieverts method. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2014;39(1):366–75.
- [86] Webb CJ, Gray EM. The effect of inaccurate volume calibrations on hydrogen uptake measured by the Sieverts method. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2014;39(5):2168–74.
- [87] Webb CJ, Gray EM. Analysis of uncertainties in gas uptake measurements using the gravimetric method. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2014;39(13):7158–64.
- [88] Broom DP, Hirscher M. Irreproducibility in hydrogen storage material research. Energy Environ Sci 2016;9:3368–80.
- [89] Dillon AC, Jones KM, Bekkedahl TA, Kiang CH, Bethune DS, Heben MJ. Storage of hydrogen in single-walled carbon nanotubes. Nature 1997;386:377–9.
- [90] Chambers A, Park C, Baker RTK, Rodriguez NM. Hydrogen storage in graphite nanofibers. J Phys Chem B 1998;102(22):4253–6.
- [91] Chen P, Wu X, Lin J, Tan KL. High H₂ uptake by alkali-doped carbon nanotubes under ambient pressure and moderate temperatures. Science 1999;285:91–3.
- [92] Liu C, Fan YY, Liu M, Cong HT, Cheng HM, Dresselhaus MS. Hydrogen storage in single-walled carbon nanotubes at room temperature. Science 1999;286:1127–9.
- [93] Klechikov A, Mercier G, Merino P, Blanco S, Merino C, Talyzin AV. Hydrogen storage in bulk graphene-related materials. Microporous Mesoporous Mater 2015;210:46–51.
- [94] Zlotea C, Moretto P, Steriotis T. A Round Robin characterisation of the hydrogen sorption properties of a carbon based material. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2009;34(7):3044–57.
- [95] Moretto P, Zlotea C, Dolci F, Amieiro A, Bobet J-L, Borgschulte A, et al. A Round Robin Test exercise on hydrogen absorption/desorption properties of a magnesium hydride based material. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2013;38(16):6704–17.
- [96] Kumar EA, Maiya MP, Murthy SS. Influence of transient operating conditions on pressure-concentration isotherms and storage characteristics of hydriding alloys. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2007;32(13):2382–9.
- [97] Voskuilen T, Zheng Y, Pourpoint T. Development of a Sievert apparatus for characterization of high pressure hydrogen sorption materials. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2010;35(19):10387–95.
- [98] Pyle DS, Gray EM, Webb CJ. A sieverts apparatus for measuring high-pressure hydrogen isotherms on porous materials. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2017;42(31):20111-9.
- [99] Lutz HM, Schmitt R, Steffens F. A high-temperature, highpressure microbalance for the determination of the hydrogen sorption characteristics of metal hydrides. Thermochim Acta 1978;24(2):369–81.
- [100] Benham MJ, Ross DK. Experimental determination of absorption-desorption isotherms by computer-controlled gravimetric analysis. Z Phys Chem NF 1989;163:S25–32.

- [101] McQuillan AD. An experimental and thermodynamic investigation of the hydrogen-titanium system. Proc Roy Soc A 1950;204:309–23.
- [102] Libowitz GG. Effect of thermal gradients on metal-gas systems. J Phys Chem 1958;62(3):296-8.
- [103] Wallbank AD, McQuillan AD. Thermal transpiration correction of hydrogen equilibrium pressure measurements in metal/hydrogen solution. J Chem Soc Faraday Trans 1 1975;71:685–9.
- [104] Goodell PD, Rudman PS. Hydriding and dehydriding rates of the LaNi_5-H system. J Less Common Met 1983;89(1):117–25.
- [105] Dantzer P, Orgaz E. Hydriding kinetics: the role of thermal transfer. J Less Common Met 1989;147(1):27–39.
- [106] Gray EMA, Buckley CE, Kisi EH. Stability of the hydrogen absorption and desorption plateaux in LaNi₅-H. Part 2: effects of absorbing and desorbing large aliquots of hydrogen. J Alloy Compd 1994;215(1-2):201-11.
- [107] Gray EMA, Blach TP, Buckley CE. Stability of the hydrogen absorption and desorption plateaux in LaNi₅-H. Part 5: H capacity. J Alloy Compd 1999;293–295:57–61.
- [108] Kisi EH, Gray EM. Stability of the hydrogen absorption and desorption plateaux in LaNi₅-H. Part 3: experimental observations of compositional inhomogeneities due to temperature gradients. J Alloy Compd 1995;217(1):112-7.
- [109] Hirscher M, Becher M, Haluska M, Quintel A, Skakalova V, Choi Y-M, et al. Hydrogen storage in carbon nanostructures. J Alloy Compd 2002;330–332:654–8.
- [110] von Zeppelin F, Haluška M, Hirscher M. Thermal desorption spectroscopy as a quantitative tool to determine the hydrogen content in solids. Thermochim Acta 2003;404(1-2):251-8.
- [111] Gross KJ, Carrington RK, Barcelo S, Karkamkar A, Purewal J, Ma S, et al. Recommended best practices for the characterization of storage properties of hydrogen storage materials, v3.34 US DOE Hydrogen Program. 2012. http:// www1.eere.energy.gov/hydrogenandfuelcells/pdfs/best_ practices_hydrogen_storage.pdf. [Accessed June 2017].
- [112] Koros WJ, Paul DR. Design considerations for measurement of gas sorption in polymers by pressure decay. J Polym Sci Polym Phys Ed 1976;14(10):1903–7.
- [113] Ross S, Olivier JP. On physical adsorption. New York: Wiley; 1964.
- [114] De Lange MF, Vlugt TJH, Gascon J, Kapteijn F. Adsorptive characterization of porous solids: error analysis guides the way. Microporous Mesoporous Mater 2014;200:199–215.
- [115] Wilson T, Tyburski A, DePies MR, Vilches OE, Becquet D, Bienfait M. Adsorption of H_2 and D_2 on carbon nanotube bundles. J Low Temp Phys 2002;126(1–2):403–8.
- [116] Rouquerol F, Rouquerol J, Sing KSW, Llewellyn P, Maurin G. Adsorption by powders and porous solids: principles, methodology and applications. 2nd ed. Oxford: Academic Press; 2014.
- [117] Childs PRN, Greenwood JR, Long CA. Review of temperature measurement. Rev Sci Instrum 2000;71(8):2959–78.
- [118] Chambers A, Fitch RK, Halliday BS. Basic vacuum technology. 2nd ed. Bristol: Institute of Physics Publishing; 1998.
- [119] O'Hanlon JF. A user's guide to vacuum technology. 3rd ed. New Jersey: Wiley; 2003.
- [120] Thommes M, Kaneko K, Neimark AV, Olivier JP, Rodriguez-Reinoso F, Rouquerol J, et al. Physisorption of gases, with special reference to the evaluation of surface area and pore size distribution (IUPAC Technical Report). Pure Appl Chem 2015;87(9–10):1051–69.
- [121] Sandrock GD, Goodell PD. Cyclic life of metal hydrides with impure hydrogen: overview and engineering considerations. J Less Common Met 1984;104(1):159–73.

- [122] Fromm E. Kinetics of metal-gas interactions at low temperatures: hydriding, oxidation, poisoning. Berlin: Springer; 1998.
- [123] Gray EM, Webb CJ. In-situ diffraction techniques for studying hydrogen storage materials under high hydrogen pressure. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2012;37(13):10182–95.
- [124] Schefer RW, Houf WG, San Marchi C, Chernicoff WP, Englom L. Characterization of leaks from compressed hydrogen dispensing systems and related components. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2006;31(9):1247–60.
- [125] San Marchi C, Somerday BP, Robinson SL. Permeability, solubility and diffusivity of hydrogen isotopes in stainless steels at high gas pressures. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2007;32(1):100–16.
- [126] Shewmon PG. Hydrogen attack of pressure-vessel steels. Mater Sci Technol 1985;1(1):2–11.
- [127] Louthan Jr MR. Hydrogen embrittlement of metals: a primer for the failure analyst. J Fail Anal Prev 2008;8(3):289–307.
- [128] Tang S, Guo TF, Cheng L. Modeling hydrogen attack effect on creep fracture toughness. Int J Solid Struct 2011;48(20):2909–19.
- [129] Dadfarnia M, Nagao A, Wang S, Martin ML, Somerday BP, Sofronis P. Recent advances on hydrogen embrittlement of structured materials. Int J Fract 2015;196(1):223–43.
- [130] San Marchi C, Somerday BP, Nibur KA. Development of methods for evaluating hydrogen compatibility and suitability. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2014;39(35):20434–9.
- [131] Australian National Measurement Institute. http://www. measurement.gov.au/Services/calibrationtesting/Pages/ Temperature.aspx, [Accessed June 2017].
- [132] Guide to the measurement of pressure and vacuum. National physical laboratory, UK. 1998. ISBN 0 904457 29 X.
- [133] Cheng HH, Deng XX, Li SL, Chen W, Chen DM, Yang K. Design of PC based high pressure hydrogen absorption/ desorption apparatus. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2007;32(14):3046-53.
- [134] Guidelines on the determination of uncertainty in gravimetric volume calibration. Braunschweig: EURAMET e.V.; 2012.
- [135] Pendleton P, Badalyan A. Gas adsorption data uncertainty and propagation analyses. Adsorption 2005;11(Suppl 1):61-6.
- [136] Lowell S, Shields JE, Thomas MA, Thommes M. Characterization of porous solids and powders: surface area, pore size and density. Dordrecht: Springer; 2006.
- [137] Gumma S, Talu O. Net adsorption: a thermodynamic framework for supercritical gas adsorption and storage in porous solids. Langmuir 2010;26(22):17013–23.
- [138] Talu O. Net adsorption of gas/vapor mixtures in microporous solids. J Phys Chem C 2013;117(25):13059–71.
- [139] Brandani S, Mangano E, Sarkisov L. Net, excess and absolute adsorption and adsorption of helium. Adsorption 2016;22(2):261–76.
- [140] Malbrunot P, Vidal D, Vermesse J, Chahine R, Bose TK. Adsorbent helium density measurement and its effect on adsorption isotherms at high pressure. Langmuir 1997;13(3):539–44.
- [141] Neimark AV, Ravikovitch PI. Calibration of pore volume in adsorption experiments and theoretical models. Langmuir 1997;13(19):5148-60.
- [142] Gumma S, Talu O. Gibbs dividing surface and helium adsorption. Adsorption 2003;9(1):17–28.
- [143] Do DD, Do HD, Fan C, Nicholson D. On the existence of negative excess isotherms for argon adsorption on graphite surfaces and in graphitic pores under supercritical conditions at pressures up to 10,000 atm. Langmuir 2010;26(7):4796–806.

- [144] Liu J, LeVan MD, Do DD. Accessible volumes for adsorption in carbon nanopores of different geometries and wall thicknesses. J Phys Chem C 2011;115(24):12077-81.
- [145] Bielmann M, Kato S, Mauron P, Borgschulte A, Züttel A. Characterization of hydrogen storage materials by means of pressure concentration isotherms based on the mass flow method. Rev Sci Instrum 2009;80(8):083901.
- [146] Thompson P, Reilly JJ, Corliss LM, Hastings JM, Hempelmann R. The crystal structure of LaNi₅D₇. J Phys F Met Phys 1986;16(6):675–85.
- [147] Edge JS, Skipper NT, Fernandez-Alonso F, Lovell A, Srinivas G, Bennington SM, et al. Structure and dynamics of molecular hydrogen in the interlayer pores of a swelling 2:1 clay by neutron scattering. J Phys Chem C 2014;118(44):25740–7.
- [148] Fletcher AJ, Thomas KM, Rosseinsky MJ. Flexibility in metalorganic framework materials: impact on sorption properties. J Solid State Chem 2005;178(8):2491–510.
- [149] Horike S, Shimomura S, Kitagawa S. Soft porous crystals. Nat Chem 2009;1(9):695–704.
- [150] Schneemann A, Bon V, Schwedler I, Senkovska I, Kaskel S, Fischer RA. Flexible metal-organic frameworks. Chem Soc Rev 2014;43:6062–96.
- [151] Percheron-Guégan A, Welter JM. Preparation of intermetallics and hydrides. In: Schlapbach L, editor. Topics in applied physics vol. 63: Hydrogen in intermetallic compounds I. Electronic, thermodynamic and crystallographic properties, preparation. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 1988. p. 11–48.
- [152] Moody JR, Lindstrom RM. Selection and cleaning of plastic containers for storage of trace element samples. Anal Chem 1977;49(14):2264–7.
- [153] Massee R, Maessen FJMJ, De Goeij JJM. Losses of silver, arsenic, cadmium, selenium and zinc traces from distilled water and artificial sea-water by sorption on various container surfaces. Anal Chim Acta 1981;127:181–93.
- [154] Lee WM. Selection of barrier materials from molecular structure. Polym Eng Sci 1980;20(1):65–9.
- [155] Lange J, Wyser Y. Recent innovations in barrier technologies for plastic packaging – a review. Packag Technol Sci 2003;16(4):149–58.
- [156] Suryanarayana C. Mechanical alloying and milling. Prog Mater Sci 2001;46(1-2):1-184.
- [157] Ares JR, Aguey-Zinsou K-F, Klassen T, Bormann R. Influence of impurities on the milling process of MgH₂. J Alloy Compd 2007;434–435:729–33.
- [158] Huot J, Ravnsbæk DB, Zhang J, Cuevas F, Latroche M, Jensen TR. Mechanochemical synthesis of hydrogen storage materials. Prog Mater Sci 2013;58(1):30–75.
- [159] Courtney TH, Wang Z. Grinding media wear during mechanical alloying of Ni-W alloys in a SPEX mill. Scr Metall Mater 1992;27(6):777–82.
- [160] Luo X-T, Li C-J, Yang G-J. Correlations between milling conditions and iron contamination, microstructure and hardness of mechanically alloyed cubic BN particle reinforced NiCrAl matrix composite powders. J Alloy Compd 2013;548:180–7.
- [161] Germain J, Hradil J, Fréchet JMJ, Svec F. High surface area nanoporous polymers for reversible hydrogen storage. Chem Mater 2006;18(18):4430–5.
- [162] Germain J, Fréchet JMJ, Svec F. Hypercrosslinked polyanilines with nanoporous structure and high surface area: potential adsorbents for hydrogen storage. J Mater Chem 2007;17:4989–97.
- [163] Wood CD, Tan B, Trewin A, Niu H, Bradshaw D, Rosseinsky MJ, et al. Hydrogen storage in microporous hypercrosslinked organic polymer networks. Chem Mater 2007;19(8):2034–48.

- [164] Černý R, Filinchuk Y, Hagemann H, Yvon K. Magnesium borohydride: synthesis and crystal structure. Angew Chem Int Ed 2007;46(30):5765–7.
- [165] Filinchuk Y, Richter B, Jensen TR, Dmitriev V, Chernyshov D, Hagemann H. Porous and dense magnesium borohydride frameworks: synthesis, stability, and reversible absorption of guest species. Angew Chem Int Ed 2011;50(47):11162–6.
- [166] Mondloch JE, Karagiaridi O, Farha OK, Hupp JT. Activation of metal-organic framework materials. CrystEngComm 2013;15:9258–64.
- [167] Howarth AJ, Peters AW, Vermeulen NA, Wang TC, Hupp JT, Farha OK. Best practices for the synthesis, activation, and characterization of metal-organic frameworks. Chem Mater 2017;29(1):26–39.
- [168] Cooper AI, Rosseinsky MJ. Improving pore performance. Nat Chem 2009;1(1):26–7.
- [169] Farha OK, Hupp JT. Rational design, synthesis, purification, and activation of metal-organic framework materials. Accounts Chem Res 2010;43(8):1166–75.
- [170] He Y-P, Tan Y-X, Zhang J. Comparative study of activation methods on tuning gas sorption properties of a metalorganic framework with nanosized ligands. Inorg Chem 2012;51(21):11232–4.
- [171] Kaye SS, Dailly A, Yaghi OM, Long JR. Impact of preparation and handling on the hydrogen storage properties of $Zn_4O(1,4-benzenedicarboxylate)_3$ (MOF-5). J Am Chem Soc 2007;129(46):14176–7.
- [172] Hafizovic J, Bjørgen M, Olsbye U, Dietzel PDC, Bordiga S, Prestipino C, et al. The inconsistency in adsorption properties and powder XRD data of MOF-5 is rationalized by framework interpenetration and the presence of organic and inorganic species in the nanocavities. J Am Chem Soc 2007;129(12):3612–20.
- [173] Hou P-X, Liu C, Cheng H-M. Purification of carbon nanotubes. Carbon 2008;46(15):2003–25.
- [174] Hirscher M, Becher M, Haluska M, Dettlaff-Weglikowska U, Quintel A, Duesberg GS, et al. Hydrogen storage in sonicated carbon materials. Appl Phys A 2001;72(2):129–32.
- [175] Becher M, Haluska M, Hirscher M, Quintel A, Skakalova V, Dettlaff-Weglikovska U, et al. Hydrogen storage in carbon nanotubes. Compt Rendus Phys 2003;4:1055–62.
- [176] Park C-N, Luo S, Flanagan TB. Analysis of sloping plateaux in alloys and intermetallic hydrides I. Diagnostic features. J Alloy Compd 2004;384(1–2):203–7.
- [177] Abe M, Kuji T. Hydrogen absorption of TiFe alloy synthesized by ball milling and post-annealing. J Alloy Compd 2007;446–447:200–3.
- [178] Ares JR, Cuevas F, Percheron-Guégan A. Influence of thermal annealing on the hydrogenation properties of mechanically milled AB_5 -type alloys. Mater Sci Eng B 2004;108(1-2):76-80.
- [179] Madsen IC, Scarlett NVY, Cranswick LMD, Lwin T. Outcomes of the international union of crystallography commission on powder diffraction round robin on quantitative phase analysis: sample 1a to 1h. J Appl Cryst 2001;34:409–26.
- [180] Scarlett NVY, Madsen IC, Cranswick LMD, Lwin T, Groleau E, Stephenson G, et al. Outcomes of the International Union of Crystallography Commission on Powder Diffraction round robin on quantitative phase analysis: samples 2, 3, 4, synthetic bauxite, natural granodiorite and pharmaceuticals. J Appl Cryst 2002;35:383–400.
- [181] Guénée L, Yvon K. Synthesis, crystal structure and hydrogenation properties of the novel metal compound LaNi₂Mn₃. J Alloy Compd 2003;348(1–2):176–83.

- [182] Orimo S-i, Fujii H. Effects of nanometer-scale structure on hydriding properties of Mg-Ni alloys: a review. Intermetallics 1998;6(3):185–92.
- [183] Mulvaney P, Parak WJ, Caruso F, Weiss PS. Standardizing nanomaterials. ACS Nano 2016;10(11):9763–4.
- [184] Sandrock GD, Goodell PD. Surface poisoning of LaNi₅, FeTi and (Fe,Mn)Ti by O₂, CO and H₂O. J Less Common Met 1980;73(1):161–8.
- [185] Goodell PD. Cycling hydriding response of LaNi₅ in hydrogen containing oxygen as a minor impurity. J Less Common Met 1983;89(1):45–54.
- [186] Uchida H, Ohtani Y, Ozawa M, Kawahata T, Suzuki T. Surface processes of H_2 in the initial activation of LaNi₅. J Less Common Met 1991;172–174:983–96.
- [187] Schülke M, Paulus H, Lammers M, Kiss G, Réti F, Müller K-H. Influence of surface contaminations on the hydrogen storage behaviour of metal hydride alloys. Anal Bioanal Chem 2008;390(6):1495–505.
- [188] Schülke M, Kiss G, Paulus H, Lammers M, Ramachandran V, Sankaran K, et al. Complex surface analytical investigations on hydrogen absorption and desorption processes of a TiMn₂-based alloy. Anal Bioanal Chem 2009;393(8):1843–56.
- [189] Fletcher AJ, Uygur Y, Thomas KM. Role of surface functional groups in the adsorption kinetics of water vapor on microporous activated carbons. J Phys Chem C 2007;111(23):8349–59.
- [190] Burtch NC, Jasuja H, Walton KS. Water stability and adsorption in metal-organic frameworks. Chem Rev 2014;114(20):10575–612.
- [191] Canivet J, Fateeva A, Guo Y, Coasne B, Farrusseng D. Water adsorption in MOFs: fundamentals and applications. Chem Soc Rev 2014;43:5594–617.
- [192] Tan K, Nijem N, Gao Y, Zuluaga S, Li J, Thonhauser T, et al. Water interactions in metal organic frameworks. CrystEngComm 2015;17:247–60.
- [193] Aprea JL. Quality specification and safety in hydrogen production, commercialization and utilization. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2014;39(16):8604–8.
- [194] Christmann K. Interaction of hydrogen with solid surfaces. Surf Sci Rep 1988;9(1-3):1-163.
- [195] Furukawa H, Miller MA, Yaghi OM. Independent verification of the saturation hydrogen uptake in MOF-177 and establishment of a benchmark for hydrogen adsorption in metal-organic frameworks. J Mater Chem 2007;17:3197–204.
- [196] Spoto G, Vitillo JG, Cocina D, Damin A, Bonino F, Zecchina A. FTIR spectroscopy and thermodynamics of hydrogen adsorbed in a cross-linked polymer. Phys Chem Chem Phys 2007;9:4992–9.
- [197] Siegmann HC, Schlapbach L, Brundle CR. Self-restoring of the active surface in the hydrogen sponge LaNi₅. Phys Rev Lett 1978;40(14):972–5.
- [198] Schlapbach L, Seiler A, Siegmann HC, Waldkirch TV, Zürcher P, Bundle CR. Self restoring of the active surface in LaNi₅. Int J Hydrogen Energy 1979;4(1):21-8.
- [199] Williams M, Lototsky MV, Davids MW, Linkov V, Yartys VA, Solberg JK. Chemical surface modification for the improvement of the hydrogenation kinetics and poisoning resistance of TiFe. J Alloy Compd 2011;509(Suppl 2):S770–4.
- [200] Qian S, Northwood DO. Hysteresis in metal-hydrogen systems: a critical review of the experimental observations and theoretical models. Int J Hydrogen Energy 1988;13(1):25–35.
- [201] Flanagan TB, Park C-N, Oates WA. Hysteresis in solid state reactions. Prog Solid State Chem 1995;23(4):291–363.
- [202] Qian S, Northwood DO. Effect of hydrogen aliquot size on the plateau pressures and pressure hysteresis in intermetallic compound-hydrogen systems. Int J Hydrogen Energy 1992;17(8):631–4.

- [203] Friedlmeier G, Schaaf M, Groll M. How to measure pressurecomposition-isotherms representative for technical applications. Z Phys Chem Bd 1994;183(1–2):185–95.
- [204] Pons M, Dantzer P. Determination of thermal conductivity and wall heat transfer coefficient of hydrogen storage materials. Int J Hydrogen Energy 1994;19(7):611–6.
- [205] Mohammadshahi SS, Webb TA, Gray EM, Webb CJ. Experimental and theoretical study of compositional inhomogeneities in LaNi₅D_x owing to temperature gradients and pressure hysteresis, investigated using spatially resolved in-situ neutron diffraction. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2017;42(10):6793–800.
- [206] Goodell PD, Sandrock GD, Huston EL. Kinetic and dynamic aspects of rechargeable metal hydrides. J Less Common Met 1980;73(1):135–42.
- [207] de Jongh PE, Adelhelm P. Nanosizing and nanoconfinement: new strategies towards meeting hydrogen storage goals. ChemSusChem 2010;3(12):1332–48.
- [208] de Jongh PE, Allendorf M, Vajo JJ, Zlotea C. Nanoconfined light metal hydrides for reversible hydrogen storage. MRS Bull 2013;38(6):488–94.
- [209] Uchida HT, Wagner S, Hamm M, Kürschner J, Kirchheim R, Hjörvarsson B, et al. Absorption kinetics and hydride formation in magnesium films: effect of driving force revisited. Acta Mater 2015;85:279–89.
- [210] Eberle U, Majer G, Skripov AV, Kozhanov VN. NMR studies of hydrogen diffusion in the hydrogen-stabilized Laves phase compound C15-HfTi₂H_x. J Phys Condens Matter 2002;14(2):153–64.
- [211] Andreasen A, Vegge T, Pedersen AS. Compensation effect in the hydrogenation/dehydrogenation kinetics of metal hydrides. J Phys Chem B 2005;109(8):3340–4.
- [212] Frankcombe TJ. Proposed mechanisms for the catalytic activity of Ti in NaAlH₄. Chem Rev 2012;112(4):2164–78.
- [213] Atakli ZÖK, Callini E, Kato S, Mauron P, Orimo S-I, Züttel A. The catalyzed hydrogen sorption mechanism in alkali alanates. Phys Chem Chem Phys 2015;17:20932–40.
- [214] Ares JR, Zhang J, Charpentier T, Cuevas F, Latroche M. Asymmetric reaction paths and hydrogen sorption mechanism in mechanochemically synthesized potassium alanate (KAlH₄). J Phys Chem C 2016;120(38): 21299–308.
- [215] Graetz J, Reilly JJ. Kinetically stabilized hydrogen storage materials. Scr Mater 2007;56(10):835–9.
- [216] Graetz J. New approaches to hydrogen storage. Chem Soc Rev 2009;38:73–82.
- [217] Paskevicius M, Webb J, Pitt MP, Blach TP, Hauback BC, Gray EM, et al. Mechanochemical synthesis of aluminium nanoparticles and their deuterium sorption properties to 2 kbar. J Alloy Compd 2009;481(1-2):595-9.
- [218] Graetz J, Reilly JJ, Yartys VA, Maehlen JP, Bulychev BM, Antonov VE, et al. Aluminium hydride as a hydrogen and energy storage material: past, present and future. J Alloy Compd 2011;509(Suppl 2):S517–28.
- [219] Graetz J, Wegrzyn J, Reilly JJ. Regeneration of lithium aluminum hydride. J Am Chem Soc 2008;130(52):17790.
- [220] Panella B, Hirscher M. Hydrogen physisorption in metalorganic porous crystals. Adv Mater 2005;17(5):538–41.
- [221] Zhao XB, Xiao B, Fletcher AJ, Thomas KM. Hydrogen adsorption on functionalized nanoporous activated carbons. J Phys Chem B 2005;109(18):8880–8.
- [222] Kärger J, Ruthven DM, Theodorou DN. Diffusion in nanoporous materials. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH; 2012.
- [223] Chen B, Zhao X, Putkham A, Hong K, Lobkovsky EB, Hurtado EJ, et al. Surface interactions and quantum kinetic molecular sieving for H₂ and D₂ adsorption on a mixed metal-organic framework material. J Am Chem Soc 2008;130(2):6411–23.

- [224] Zhou L, Zhou Y. Determination of compressibility factor and fugacity coefficient of hydrogen in studies of adsorptive storage. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2001;26(6): 597–601.
- [225] Lemmon EW, Huber ML, McLinden MO. NIST standard reference database 23: reference fluid thermodynamic and transport properties – REFPROP, version 9.1. Gaithersburg: National Institute of Standards and Technology, Standard Reference Data Program; 2013.
- [226] Leachman JW, Jacobsen RT, Penoncello SG, Lemmon EW. Fundamental equations of state for parahydrogen, normal hydrogen, and orthohydrogen. J Phys Chem Ref Data 2009;38(3):721–48.
- [227] Soave G. Equilibrium constants from a modified Redlich-Kwong equation of state. Chem Eng Sci 1972;27(6):1197–203.
- [228] Peng D-Y, Robinson DB. A new two-constant equation of state. Ind Eng Chem Fund 1976;15(1):59–64.
- [229] Pitzer KS. The volumetric and thermodynamic properties of fluids. I. Theoretical basis and virial coefficients. J Am Chem Soc 1955;77(13):3427–33.
- [230] Pitzer KS, Lippmann DZ, Curl Jr RF, Huggins CM, Petersen DE. The volumetric and thermodynamic properties of fluids. II. Compressibility factor, vapor pressure and entropy of vaporization. J Am Chem Soc 1955;77(13):3433–40.
- [231] Hemmes H, Driessen A, Griessen R. Thermodynamic properties of hydrogen at pressures up to 1 Mbar and temperatures between 100 and 1000K. J Phys C Solid State Phys 1986;19(19):3571–85.
- [232] McLennan KG, Gray EMA. An equation of state for deuterium gas to 1000 bar. Meas Sci Technol 2004;15(1):211–5.
- [233] Benedict M, Webb GB, Rubin LC. An empirical equation for thermodynamic properties of light hydrocarbons and their mixtures I. Methane, ethane, propane and *n*-butane. J Chem Phys 1940;8(4):334–45.
- [234] Starling KE. Fluid thermodynamic properties for light petroleum systems. Houston: Gulf Publishing Co; 1973.
- [235] Zhou W, Wu H, Hartman MR, Yildirim T. Hydrogen and methane adsorption in metal-organic frameworks: a highpressure volumetric study. J Phys Chem C 2007;111(44):16131–7.
- [236] Broom DP, Thomas KM. Gas adsorption by nanoporous materials: future applications and experimental challenges. MRS Bull 2013;38(5):412–21.
- [237] Gibbs JW. The scientific papers of J. Willard Gibbs. Vol. I. Thermodynamics. New York: Dover Publications; 1961.
- [238] Poirier E, Dailly A. Investigation of the hydrogen state in IRMOF-1 from measurements and modeling of adsorption isotherms at high gas densities. J Phys Chem C 2008;112(33):13047–52.
- [239] Poirier E, Dailly A. Thermodynamic study of the adsorbed hydrogen phase in Cu-based metal-organic frameworks at cryogenic temperatures. Energy Environ Sci 2009;2:420–5.
- [240] Bimbo N, Ting VP, Hruzewicz-Kołodziejczyk A, Mays TJ. Analysis of hydrogen storage in nanoporous materials for low carbon energy applications. Faraday Discuss 2011;151:59–74.
- [241] Poirier E, Dailly A. Saturation properties of a supercritical gas sorbed in nanoporous materials. Phys Chem Chem Phys 2012;14:16544–51.
- [242] Bastos-Neto M, Patzschke C, Lange M, Möllmer J, Möller A, Fichtner S, et al. Assessment of hydrogen storage by physisorption in porous materials. Energy Environ Sci 2012;5:8294–303.
- [243] Myers AL, Monson PA. Physical adsorption of gases: the case for absolute adsorption as the basis for thermodynamic analysis. Adsorption 2014;20(4):591–622.

- [244] Murata K, El-Merraoui M, Kaneko K. A new determination method of absolute adsorption isotherm of supercritical gases under high pressure with a special relevance to density-functional theory study. J Chem Phys 2001;114(9):4196–205.
- [245] Salem MMK, Braeuer P, Szombathely MV, Heuchel M, Harting P, Quitzsch K, et al. Thermodynamics of highpressure adsorption of argon, nitrogen, and methane on microporous adsorbents. Langmuir 1998;14(12):3376–89.
- [246] US DRIVE Partnership. Target explanation document: onboard hydrogen storage for light-duty fuel cell vehicles. May 2015. https://energy.gov/sites/prod/files/2015/05/f22/ fcto_targets_onboard_hydro_storage_explanation.pdf. [Accessed June 2017].
- [247] Wenger D, Polifke W, Schmidt-Ihn E, Abdel-Baset T, Maus S. Comments on solid state hydrogen storage systems design for fuel cell vehicles. Int J Hydrogen Energy 2009;34(15):6265–70.
- [248] Schlichtenmayer M, Hirscher M. The usable capacity of porous materials for hydrogen storage. Appl Phys A 2016;122(4):379.
- [249] Liu C, Chen Y, Wu C-Z, Xu S-T, Cheng H-M. Hydrogen storage in carbon nanotubes revisited. Carbon 2010;48(2):452-5.
- [250] Webb CJ. A review of catalyst-enhanced magnesium hydride as a hydrogen storage material. J Phys Chem Solids 2015;84:96–106.
- [251] Paskevicius M, Sheppard DA, Buckley CE. Thermodynamic changes in mechanochemically synthesized magnesium hydride nanoparticles. J Am Chem Soc 2010;132(14):5077–83.
- [252] Hibbert DB, Thordarson P. The death of the Job plot, transparency, open science and online tools, uncertainty estimation methods and other developments in supramolecular chemistry data analysis. Chem Commun 2016;53:12792–805.
- [253] Pini R, Ottiger S, Rajendran A, Storti G, Mazzotti M. Reliable measurement of near-critical adsorption by gravimetric method. Adsorption 2006;12(5–6):393–403.
- [254] Mohammad S, Fitzgerald J, Robinson Jr RL, Gasem KAM. Experimental uncertainties in volumetric methods for measuring equilibrium adsorption. Energy Fuels 2009;23(5):2810–20.
- [255] Sakurovs R, Day S, Weir S. Causes and consequences of errors in determining sorption capacity of coals for carbon dioxide at high pressure. Int J Coal Geol 2009;77(1–2):16–22.
- [256] van Hemert P, Bruining H, Rudolph ESJ, Wolf K-HAA, Maas JG. Improved manometric setup for the accurate

determination of supercritical carbon dioxide sorption. Rev Sci Instrum 2009;80(3):035103.

- [257] Busch A, Gensterblum Y. CBM and CO2-ECBM related sorption processes in coal: a review. Int J Coal Geol 2011;87(2):49–71.
- $\label{eq:258} \begin{array}{l} \mbox{Gensterblum Y, van Hemert P, Billemont P, Busch A, \\ \mbox{Charriére D, Li D, et al. European inter-laboratory} \\ \mbox{comparison of high pressure CO}_2 \mbox{ sorption isotherms. I:} \\ \mbox{activated carbon. Carbon 2009;47(13):2958-69.} \end{array}$
- [260] Gensterblum Y, van Hemert P, Billemont P, Battistutta E, Busch A, Krooss BM, et al. European inter-laboratory comparison of high pressure CO₂ sorption isotherms II: natural coals. Int J Coal Geol 2010;84:115–24.
- [261] Gasparik M, Rexer TFT, Aplin AC, Billemont P, De Weireld G, Gensterblum Y, et al. First international inter-laboratory comparison of high-pressure CH₄, CO₂ and C₂H₆ sorption isotherms on carbonaceous shales. Int J Coal Geol 2014;132:131–46.
- [262] Fuller EL, Poulis JA, Czanderna AW, Robens E. Volumetric and gravimetric methods of determining monolayer capacities. Thermochim Acta 1979;29(2):315–8.
- [263] Badalyan A, Pendleton P. Analysis of uncertainties in manometric gas-adsorption measurements. I: propagation of uncertainties in BET analyses. Langmuir 2003;19(19):7919–28.
- [264] Badalyan A, Pendleton P. Sample container temperature gradient influence on the BET specific surface area. J Colloid Interface Sci 2005;283(2):605–8.
- [265] Menon PG. Adsorption at high pressures. Chem Rev 1968;68(3):277–94.
- [266] De Weireld G, Frère M, Jadot R. Automated determination of high-temperature and high-pressure gas adsorption isotherms using a magnetic suspension balance. Meas Sci Technol 1999;10(2):117–26.
- [267] Belmabkhout Y, Frère M, De Weireld G. High-pressure adsorption measurements. A comparative study of the volumetric and gravimetric methods. Meas Sci Technol 2004;15(5):848–58.
- [268] Keller JU, Staudt R. Gas adsorption equilibria: experimental methods and adsorptive isotherms. New York: Springer; 2005.